














STAYBRIDGE SUITES OAKVILLEFAIRMONT ROYAL YORK

•	 Maintain a strong balance sheet with 
appropriate leverage and staggered debt 
maturities in order to minimize InnVest’s  
cost of capital and provide adequate financial 
flexibility to withstand market cycles. 

•	 Target leverage (debt to gross asset value) 
reduction below 60% and reduce reliance  
on dilutive securities. This is expected to be 
accomplished through asset sales, regular 
principal amortization repayments and 
potential capital market transactions. 

•	 Following its capital investment program, 
InnVest anticipates to be building cash 
reserves, positioning it to further reduce 
indebtedness or to deploy its capital in  
select investments to enhance and grow  
the portfolio.

•	 Leverage renovated product to shift business 
to higher rated segments and capture greater 
market share amidst positive industry trends.

•	 Continually strive to improve InnVest’s 
operating efficiency by taking advantage  
of its size and implementing industry best 
practices to maximize cash flows and 
operating margins.

	 Following changes to InnVest’s Board in March 2014, a Capital 
Structure Task Force subcommittee was established to review InnVest’s 
capital structure and alternatives to better optimize cost of capital, 
diversity of funding sources and liquidity.

	 Improved debt to gross asset value leverage 350 basis points to  
62.0%. Further initiatives undertaken in early 2015 include the  
early redemption of our Series D convertible debenture (“Series D 
Debentures”) which further improved pro forma leverage to 
approximately 60% (refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources).

	 In March 2014, KingSett Capital (“KingSett”) was introduced as  
a strategic capital partner of InnVest, providing the REIT with 
incremental capital sources to support debt and growth initiatives 
(refer to Related Party Transactions). 

	 –	� Completed a $50 million subordinated credit facility with KingSett  
in April 2014.

	 –	� InnVest’s partnership with KingSett to acquire the Royal York Hotel 
further highlights the value of this relationship and the optionality 
and scale it provides to grow the portfolio.

	 Building on its commitment to limit the use of convertible securities, 
InnVest completed the following transactions:

	 –	� Redeemed its $70 million Series C Debentures in June 2014.
	 –	� Completed a tender offer for $28.8 million Series G Debentures in 

July 2014 and amended terms of the remaining balance outstanding 
to minimize their dilutive impact resulting in non-cash net gains of 
$11.8 million.

	 –	� Called its $36.4 million Series D Debentures for early redemption in 
early March 2015 ($32.7 million converted to units and $3.6 million 
was redeemed for cash).

	 Ended the year with liquidity of $119.1 million at December 31, 2014, 
$98.2 million pro forma the acquisition of the Royal York in February 
2015 and the redemption of Series D Debentures in March 2015.

	 Operating margins improved by 120 basis points in 2014.

	 Completed amendments to the hotel management agreement  
with Westmont to provide the REIT with greater flexibility and operator 
accountability for achieving operating targets (refer to Related  
Party Transactions). 

	 In December 2014, InnVest internalized its asset management function. 

	 Coupled with the active asset management of the portfolio, these 
changes are expected to contribute to enhanced business oversight 
and alignment of interests with key stakeholders and help position  
the REIT to continue to improve operations. 

INITIATIVE ORIGINAL STRATEGIC PLAN OBJECTIVE SUMMARY OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Strengthen 
the Balance 
Sheet

Improve 
Operations

COMPLETED ONGOING
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OUR 2015 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Limiting volatility risk remains a primary focus. Our 
objective is to build a long-term diversified portfolio 
that can weather all market cycles. We believe one of 
the keys to success in the lodging industry is to own a 
well-diversified portfolio made up of the best assets in 
each of the markets where we are represented – assets 
that will outperform in periods of growth and that are 
better insulated from declines during inevitable 
economic downturns.

In March 2014, InnVest’s Board was reconstituted  
and undertook a review of InnVest’s strategic plan for 
the future. Following its review, the Board supported 
and augmented InnVest’s strategic plan to reposition 
the portfolio and focus on a smaller portfolio of ‘core’ 
hotels; invest in these core hotels to position them  
for long-term growth; and to lower InnVest’s debt 
leverage to reduce its risk profile. 

With most of its original two-year objectives achieved 
and InnVest’s financial position significantly improved, 
management is focused on growth including additional 
investments in existing properties to optimize 
performance of the existing portfolio and external growth  
through acquisitions to further enhance the portfolio’s 
quality, diversification and return on investment 
attributes. These initiatives will be aided by the 
internalization of InnVest’s asset management function.

For 2015, management expects to invest $60 to  
$80 million in its existing portfolio. Return on investment 
projects include the final phase of renovations at its two 
full-service hotels in Calgary – the Fairmont Palliser and 
the Sheraton Suites Eau Claire. Extensive renovations  
are also planned at the Delta London Armouries and the 
Delta Beausejour in Moncton following license renewals 
for these assets. Management is reviewing a number  
of additional renovations to address upcoming license 
renewals and repositioning opportunities across the 
portfolio. These investments are expected to be funded 
by remaining asset sales as well as available liquidity. 
The ultimate extent and timing will depend on 
management’s assessment of return expectations and 
alternative uses for our capital.

Management continues to target leverage reduction as  
a key priority. As part of this effort, management with 
the guidance of the Board’s Capital Structure Task  
Force, continues to review InnVest’s capital structure 
and alternatives to better optimize our cost of capital. 
Management is targeting a leverage level below 60% 
over the near-term. InnVest's December 31, 2014  
debt leverage, pro forma the redemption of InnVest's 
Series D debentures, approximates 60%. InnVest remains 
committed to maintaining this debt reduction although 

debt leverage may vary through the year based on  
seasonality and optimal permanent financing. Additional 
objectives for 2015 include pursuing opportunities to 
take advantage of the low interest rate environment  
and extend debt maturities.

Following an extensive search, in December 2014,  
the Board appointed Andrew (Drew) Coles as full-time 
President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of 
InnVest. During the year, the Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) role also became fully dedicated to the  
affairs of the REIT. With capable permanent, full-time 
executives in place, management and the Board  
will continue to review and refine InnVest’s long-term 
strategy. Highlighting our team’s confidence in the 
long-term prospects for InnVest, our Board and 
management’s aggregate unit ownership approximates 
35%. Building on this, InnVest’s redesigned Trustee 
compensation structure further aligns our Board’s 
interests with those of our unitholders.

RECENT GROWTH INITIATIVES
In December 2014, InnVest completed the 
acquisition of the 644-room Hyatt Regency 
Vancouver from an affiliate of Hyatt Hotels 
Corporation for $139 million (net of a $1.0 million 
credit from the vendor), or $215,000 per room.  
A Hyatt Hotels Corporation affiliate will continue  
to provide management services to the hotel under 
a new long-term management contract. InnVest 
funded the acquisition of the Hyatt Regency  
Hotel with a new $70 million, 3.8% floating rate 
mortgage (three-year term plus two one-year 
renewal options) and cash on hand following the 
completion of a combined public offering and 
private placement. Refer to Unit Information.

In February 2015, InnVest completed the acquisition 
of a 20% interest in the 1,363-room Fairmont Royal 
York in Toronto (the “Royal York Hotel”) through  
an agreement with KingSett Real Estate Growth LP 
No. 5 and Ivanhoé Cambridge (the “Partnership”).  
The Partnership acquired the Royal York Hotel for an  
aggregate price of $186.5 million, or $137,000 per 
room, with InnVest’s 20% share being approximately 
$37.3 million. The Partnership financed the 
acquisition with an approximate $100 million, 
3-year, 3.8% floating rate mortgage. InnVest funded 
its proportionate share of the acquisition equity  
with available cash. The Partnership believes in the 
long-term future success of the Royal York Hotel  
and expects to invest over $50 million of additional 
funds for renovations over the next 24 months 
(InnVest’s share being $10.0 million). Refer to 
Related Party Transactions. 

BUILDING  
ON OUR 
STRATEGY

InnVest’s 2015 strategic 
objectives build on  
the tremendous work 
accomplished over  
the last two years.

•	� Leverage and develop 
our internalized asset 
management platform

•	� Evaluate acquisitions  
to further enhance  
the portfolio’s quality, 
diversification and  
return on investment 
attributes

•	� Recycle capital from 
non-core assets

•	� Invest $60 to $80 million 
in the existing  
portfolio to optimize  
its performance

•	� Where possible and 
advantageous, re-finance 
mortgage debt at 
historically low interest 
rates and extend the 
average term to maturity 
of mortgage debt

•	� Target further  
leverage reduction 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Revenue per Available Room (RevPAR): RevPAR is 
defined as the product of the ADR achieved and the 
average daily occupancy. RevPAR measures room 
revenues and is a commonly used measure within  
the hotel industry to evaluate hotel operations. 

RevPAR changes driven by occupancy have different 
implications on gross operating profit than changes 
driven by ADR. Higher occupancy will generate 
incremental revenues such as food and beverage  
but will also result in higher costs relating to providing 
such services. ADR increases will not generate 
incremental revenue for ancillary services; however, 
they also will not result in meaningful additional  
costs and, therefore, ADR increases tend to have  
a greater positive impact on profitability.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest’s 
same-hotel RevPAR improved 3.9% driven by growth  
in both ADR and occupancies. This compared to  
the 5.9% growth realized by the Canadian lodging 
industry over the same period. Improved performance 
following renovations completed in 2013 were partially 
offset by continuing renovation activity across a 
number of hotels throughout 2014. 

Hotel Gross Operating Profit (Hotel GOP): Hotel 
operations contribute all of InnVest’s overall gross 
operating profit. Defined as hotel revenues less 
expenses related to hotel operations, Hotel GOP 
measures property level results before debt service 
and facilitates comparisons between InnVest and its 
hotel competitors. For the year ended December 31, 
2014, Hotel GOP declined 3.5%, to $129.2 million 
reflecting the reduced contribution from assets sold. 
However, same-hotel Hotel GOP improved 2.5%. 

Hotel GOP Margin: Defined as Hotel GOP as a 
percentage of hotel revenues, this key performance 
indicator measures an individual hotel’s profitability 
efficiency in relation to top-line revenue. For the  
year ended December 31, 2014, Hotel GOP margins 
improved 130 basis points to 24.2%, primarily 
highlighting the benefits of low cash flow yielding 
asset sales. 

Funds from Operations (FFO) and Adjusted Funds  
from Operations (AFFO) (AFFO was previously 
referred to as distributable income): These indicators 
measure profitability and cash flow after all internal 
funding requirements including debt service. AFFO 

also considers funding requirements for the  
annual furniture, fixtures and equipment reserve  
(“FF&E Reserve”). FFO and AFFO for the year  
ended December 31, 2014 were $58.5 million and  
$44.4 million, down $5.4 million and $1.8 million  
from 2013 primarily reflecting reduced GOP following 
asset sales (partially offset by corresponding debt 
repayment savings) and higher corporate and 
administrative expenses incurred. FFO and AFFO  
are non-IFRS financial measures which do not have  
a standardized meaning and are unlikely to be  
comparable to similar financial measures used by other  
organizations. Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures  
and Additional IFRS Financial Measures.

Cash Flow Forecasts: Management constantly  
monitors its cash flow and cash balances to ensure  
sufficient liquidity to fund the operating and capital  
needs of the business with a near and longer term  
view. At December 31, 2014, InnVest has total liquidity  
of $121.3 million (including cash, restricted cash and 
availability under its operating line of credit, bridge loan  
and capital expenditure loan facility). Management 
believes that liquidity on hand, ongoing operating  
cash flows, and its ability to access additional capital  
in the future will allow InnVest to meet all known 
financial commitments. 

RevPAR Index or Penetration: RevPAR Index  
measures an individual hotel’s performance compared  
to market-wide RevPAR. RevPAR Index accounts for  
market volatility by measuring a hotel’s relative  
performance against its direct competitive set. RevPAR  
Index is calculated by dividing an individual hotel’s  
RevPAR by the market-wide RevPAR. The RevPAR Index  
of a hotel reflects a measurement of the property’s  
ability to obtain its relative share of RevPAR for its  
specific market. An index above 100% indicates a hotel  
achieving more than its relative share of the market- 
wide RevPAR, while an index below 100% represents a  
property not attaining its relative share of the market- 
wide RevPAR. Where available (some markets are  
too small to have a direct competitive set), InnVest’s  
average portfolio RevPAR Index for 2014 approximately 
104.5%, exceeding its relative share of the market. 
Notably, the limited service hotels which were renovated 
in 2013 saw their RevPAR Index improve over 7 
percentage points to 103% in 2014. 

Key performance indicators play an important role in evaluating the performance of the portfolio 
and achievement of InnVest’s objectives. These key performance indicators are also used by 
management to measure its relative performance against its peers in the lodging industry.  

3.9%
INCREASE IN  
SAME-HOTEL REVPAR

2.5%
IMPROVEMENT IN  
SAME-HOTEL GOP

130bps
INCREASE IN HOTEL  
GOP MARGINS TO 24.1% 

$121.3M
LIQUIDITY TO FUND 
OPERATING AND CAPITAL 
NEEDS 

7 points
IMPROVEMENT IN REVPAR 
INDEX FOR COMFORT INNS 
RENOVATED IN 2013
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OUTLOOK

2014 HIGHLIGHTS 

According to the Conference Board of Canada, the 2015 economic 
growth for Canada is forecast to be 1.9% and grow over 2.0% in 2016.  
While growth is forecast across most provinces, Alberta’s economy  
is expected to be negatively impacted by the decline in oil prices which 
is expected to broadly impact economic performance in the province. 
The related reduction in retail gas prices and the relative decline in  
the Canadian dollar are expected to have a mitigating effect on this 
potential decline. Of note, British Columbia and Manitoba are expected 
to exceed the national average growth rate in 2015 which will benefit 
our newest acquisition in Vancouver and our newly renovated full-
service hotel in Winnipeg. Our broad, diversified portfolio of quality 
assets provides us with appropriate risk mitigation in the face of 
regional disparities. Hotel industry consultants, HVS, are forecasting 
Canadian national RevPAR growth of 3.8%.

As we look to 2015, we expect earnings to continue to grow as our 
renovated hotels benefit from capital investments completed, our  
newly acquired hotels contribute to our portfolio performance and our 
remaining portfolio capitalizes on positive industry fundamentals.

STRATEGIC HIGHLIGHTS
•	 Internalized asset management and appointed a new CEO in 

December 2014; 

•	 Acquired the Hyatt Regency Vancouver for $139.0 million (net of a 
$1.0 million credit from the vendor) and completed the previously 
announced acquisition of a 20% interest in the Royal York Hotel in 
Toronto. InnVest's share of the acquisition approximated $37.3 million; 

•	 Sold 19 non-core assets for aggregate gross proceeds of  
$126.4 million (net proceeds of $100.1 million). Since the start of 
2013, management has completed the sale of 27 non-core assets for 
gross proceeds of $239.5 million (net proceeds of $128.5 million), 
exceeding its original divestiture objectives; and

•	 Reduced leverage from 65.5% at the end of the prior year to 
approximately 60% pro forma the conversion of convertible 
debentures subsequent to the end of the year.

Our prudent financial management and improved balance sheet has 
helped lower our cost of capital and position InnVest to execute on 
opportunities that may present themselves in 2015 and beyond. We 
continue to see significant redevelopment and return-on-investment 
projects within our existing portfolio and also intend to further diversify 
and upgrade our portfolio through select acquisitions. 

InnVest is committed to enhancing unitholder alignment and growing 
unitholder value. InnVest’s strategy to reduce debt leverage (including 
reducing InnVest’s reliance on dilutive convertible securities), reposition 
its portfolio and invest in core assets is expected to enhance the stability 
and growth of the portfolio’s long-term cash flows and valuation. 

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
•	 RevPAR on a same-hotel basis improved 3.9% through a combination 

of rate and occupancy gains;

•	 Same-hotel revenues improved 3.5%. A planned reduction in  
hotels due to the divestiture program led to overall hotel revenues 
declining 8.6%, or $50.3 million, reflecting the sale of 27 hotels  
over the past two years;

•	 GOP declined $5.3 million, or 4.0%, due to the reduced number of 
hotels while GOP margins improved 120 basis points to 24.1%;

•	 The portfolio of 31 Comfort Inns renovated in 2013 grew room 
revenue by 11.7% and Hotel GOP by 33.6%;

•	 Generated a net loss of $14.7 million in 2014 compared to a  
net loss of $55.0 million in the prior year; and

•	 FFO and AFFO declined to $58.5 million and $44.4 million, 
respectively, reflecting reduced GOP achieved following asset  
sales (offset by corresponding debt repayment savings) as  
well as higher corporate and administrative costs.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

been sold (eight in 2013 and 19 in 2014). This planned reduction in 
hotels led to overall hotel revenues declining 8.6%, or $50.3 million,  
to $534.8 million.

Same-hotel RevPAR during the year ended December 31, 2014 
improved 3.9% with growth in occupancy and average daily rate. RevPAR  
growth was aided by revenue displacement caused by renovations 
across the portfolio in 2013. This was somewhat mitigated by ongoing 
disruption caused by renovations at select hotels in 2014 or still 
recovering from renovations undertaken.

Hotel revenues consist primarily of revenue generated from room 
occupancy. Non-room revenues include food and beverage services  
and other miscellaneous revenue streams associated with hotel 
operations such as meeting space rentals, parking, retail operations  
and telephone use. 

Same-hotel growth in revenues of 3.5% during the year ended 
December 31, 2014 was offset by revenue declines following hotel 
property divestitures (including one lease surrender at the end of 
2013). Since the beginning of 2013, 27 assets (4,202 rooms) have  

							       Years Ended December 31

						      2014	 2013	 2012

Revenues					     $	 535,535 	 $	 586,898 	 $	 612,829 
Gross operating profit(1)						      128,821 		  134,138 		  137,589 
Gross operating margin						      24.1%		  22.9%		  22.5%
Net loss							      (14,727)		  (54,956)		  (103,156)
Funds from operations(1)						      58,451 		  63,802 		  63,713 
Adjusted funds from operations(1)						      44,351 		  46,145 		  44,619 
Distributions declared					     $	 39,222 	 $	 37,465 	 $	 37,383 

Per unit diluted:
	 Net loss		   			   $	 (0.152)	 $	 (0.586)	 $	 (1.103)
	 Funds from operations					     $	 0.574 	 $	 0.624 	 $	 0.660 
	 Adjusted funds from operations					     $	 0.441 	 $	 0.462 	 $	 0.471 
Distributions					     $	 0.3996 	 $	 0.3996 	 $	 0.3996 

(1) 	Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Financial Measures.	

The following discussion summarizes InnVest’s performance for the years ended December 31, 2014 as compared to 2013.

REVENUES 
						      2014	 2013	 Variance %

Hotel							      $	 534,811 	 $	 585,088 		  (8.6%)
Other real estate properties					     	  724 	 	  1,810 		  (60.0%)

Revenues					     $	 535,535 	 $	 586,898 		  (8.8%)

Same-hotel growth was offset by asset sales completed since 2013 
which contributed to a decline in overall hotel revenues during the year 
ended December 31, 2014. InnVest’s principal business is the ownership 
of hotel real estate (see detailed discussion below). Annual revenues 

from other real estate properties declined owing to the sale of one 
office and retail complex in late May 2013. InnVest owns one remaining 
retail complex and retirement home adjacent to an existing hotel.

Hotel Revenues
						      2014	 2013	 Variance %

Room						      $	 417,474 	 $	 456,587 		  (8.6%)
Non-room					     	  117,337 	 	  128,501 		  (8.7%)

Hotel Revenues					     $	 534,811 	 $	 585,088 		  (8.6%)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.)

•	 Performance across the Atlantic region improved reflecting the 
benefit from the Comfort Inn renovations completed in 2013 as well 
as the full renovation of the Delta Prince Edward through the first 
half of 2014. 

•	 Annual performance across the Western region was limited by 
renovations undertaken through the first half of the year including 
three full-service hotels (Fairmont Palliser in Calgary, the Sheraton 
Calgary Suites Eau Claire and the Delta Winnipeg). This offset growth 
achieved following renovations to a number of limited service hotels 
in 2013. The declining oil market has contributed to slowing transient 
business demand levels through the end of 2014. We expect these 
trends to continue through the first half of 2015 pending stabilization 
of industry fundamentals. Our hotels are replacing some of this 
business with group demand. Performance in 2015 will also be 
impacted by the final phases of guestroom renovations at the 
Fairmont Palliser and Sheraton Eau Claire in Calgary, which are  
being completed through the first half of 2015.

Total Current Portfolio analysis for the year ended December 31, 2014: 

•	 Experienced growth across the Ontario region driven by strength  
in southwestern Ontario and the Greater Toronto Area. Annual 
performance was limited by renovations undertaken during the year 
at a number of Comfort Inn hotels as well as the repositioning of  
one hotel which was rebranded in early October 2014.

•	 Strength in the Montreal and Quebec City markets offset shortfalls  
in resource-based northern Quebec markets as well as renovations 
underway at a number of Comfort Inn hotels through the second  
half of the year. Eleven Comfort Inns in the Quebec region were 
renovated in 2014. This level of activity impacted occupancies for  
the region and offset ADR growth achieved. The renovation activity 
negatively affected profitability given the high level of fixed costs  
in these limited-service hotels.

				    2014	 Variance to	 2014	 Variance to 	 2014	 Variance to 
Same-Hotel Portfolio	 Occupancy	 2013	 ADR	 2013	 RevPAR 	 2013

Ontario		 65.5%	 1.9 pts	 $	 112.19 	 1.4%	 $	 73.47 	 4.3%
Quebec		 62.9%	 (0.6 pts)	 	 119.92 	 3.7%	 	 75.40 	 2.7%
Atlantic		 59.3%	 2.5 pts	 	 118.01 	 2.6%	 	 69.99 	 7.1%
Western	 64.5%	 0.3 pts	 	 166.15 	 2.0%	 	 107.15 	 2.5%

Total			  63.8%	 1.2 pts	 $	 125.45 	 2.0%	 $	 79.99 	 3.9%

Note: Gross hotel revenues on a same-hotel basis (109 hotels), excluding hotels which were sold or acquired during the periods presented.

				    Number of	 Number of	 2014	  Variance	 Variance 
Room Revenue by Region	 Hotels	 Rooms	 Room Revenue	 to Prior Year $	 to Prior Year %

Core Portfolio:					   
	 Ontario	  	 49 		   5,839 	 $	 153,715 	 $	 5,959 		  4.0%
	 Quebec	  	 22 		   2,493 	 	 68,454 		  2,258 		  3.4%
	 Atlantic	  	 16 		   1,785 	 	 46,633 		  3,459 		  8.0%
	 Western	  	 16 		   2,670 	 	 101,766 		  2,166 		  2.2%

Total Core Portfolio		   103 		   12,787 	 $	 370,568 	 $	 13,842 		  3.9%
Non-Core Portfolio		   6 		   733 		  16,146 		  (573)		  (3.4%)

Same-Hotel Portfolio		   109 		   13,520 	 $	 386,714 	 $	  13,269 		  3.6%
Acquisition		   1 		   644 		  1,166 		  1,166 		  100%

Total Current Portfolio		  110		  14,164	 $	 387,880	 $	 14,435		  3.9%
2014 dispositions		   19 		   2,383 		  29,594 		  (28,021)		  (48.6%)
2013 dispositions and lease surrender		   8 	  	 1,819 		  0 		  (25,527)		  (100.0%)

					      137 		   18,366 	 $	 417,474 	 $	  (39,113)		  (8.6%)

Room Revenues
Same-hotel room revenues during the year ended December 31, 2014 
improved $13.3 million or 3.6%. Notably, room revenue growth achieved 
from the Comfort Inn assets which were renovated in 2013 grew 11.7% as 
compared to the prior year. Asset sales contributed to overall declines of 
$53.5 million with the acquisition of the Hyatt Regency Vancouver in early 
December 2014 contributing $1.2 million in incremental room revenues.

Room revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 is net of  
$8.7 million (2013 – $9.1 million) of costs associated with third-party 
loyalty programs.
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InnVest continually focuses on managing all costs to maximize overall 
profitability without impacting the service levels offered to guests. 
Management’s focus is on limiting incremental costs associated with 
improved occupancy and/or adjusting costs in periods of declining 

Non-Room Revenues
The sale of food and beverage represents over 80% of the non-room 
revenue earned in 2014 and 2013. Non-room revenues decreased  
$11.2 million (8.7%) in 2014 owing to the divestiture of 27 hotels since 
2013. Same-hotel non-room revenues improved $3.5 million (3.3%)  

occupancy in order to enable margin expansion. Many property level 
expenses, including property taxes, rent and insurance are relatively 
fixed and do not change in accordance with overall demand levels. 

in 2014 led by group activity across the full-service portfolio. The 
acquisition of one hotel in December 2014 also contributed to improve 
non-room revenues by $1.2 million on a year-over-year basis. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.)

Since the second quarter of 2013, 63 of our 103 Core Portfolio hotels 
have been under renovation (58 Comfort Inn hotels and 5 full-service 
hotels). Given the extensive renovation and repositioning of the 
Comfort Inn assets, these hotels are experiencing a transition period 
following the completion of renovations as our property managers  
and sales teams reposition the hotels within their competitive  
sets and shift the business mix to higher rated segments. Based on 
experience to-date, the typical period for these hotels to fully  
ramp up from the renovation can be up to a year, depending on  
the market.

Full-service hotels under extensive renovations in 2014 included two 
hotels in Calgary (the Fairmont Palliser and the Sheraton Calgary  
Eau Claire), the Delta Winnipeg, Delta Prince Edward and the London 
Hotel & Suites (converted to a Holiday Inn in early October). 

The following table summarizes operating results across our Core 
Portfolio and serves to highlight the displacement experienced while 
work is underway, as well as the growth achieved to-date following  
the completion of renovations. Moreover, the table highlights that 
revenues for renovated Comfort Inn hotels generally take a few quarters 
to ramp-up. The 31 Comfort Inn hotels which completed renovations  
in 2013 increased revenue by 11.7% for the year ended December 31, 
2014. This growth rate significantly exceeds results achieved from hotels 
which were under renovations or which have not been renovated,  
highlighting the return opportunities provided by internal investments 
within the existing portfolio. For the Comfort Inns renovated in 2014  
the operating trends are positive post renovations, however the 
improvements to the end of December have not been sufficient to offset 
the business displacement experienced during the renovation period.

				    Number of	 Number of	 2014	  Variance	 Variance 
Room Revenue by Renovation Schedule	 Hotels	 Rooms	 Room Revenue	 to Prior Year $	 to Prior Year %

Core Comfort Inn Portfolio (1)

	 Q2 2013 renovations		  7		  607	 $	 13,633	 $	 1,924		  16.4%
	 Q3 2013 renovations		  12		  892	 	 21,624	 	 1,951		  9.9%
	 Q4 2013 renovations		  12		  1,003	 	 21,512	 	 2,062		  10.6%

Renovated in 2013 (1)		  31		  2,502	 $	 56,769	 $	 5,937		  11.7%
	 Q1 2014 renovations		  4		  295	 	 7,693		  (235)		  (3.0%)
	 Q2 2014 renovations		  11		  687		  14,815		  (1,058)		  (6.7%)
	 Q3 2014 renovations 		  1		  146	 	 1,888		  (168)		  (8.2%)
	 Q4 2014 renovations 		  11		  849	 	 16,132		  (640)		  (3.8%)

Renovated in 2014		  27		  1,977	 $	 40,528	 $	 (2,101)		  (4.9%)

Core Comfort Portfolio		  58		  4,479	 $	 97,297	 $	 3,836		  4.1%
Full service Core hotels under renovation in 2014		  5		  1,475		  66,342		  1,535		  2.4%
Other Core hotels		  40		  6,833	 	 206,929		  8,471		  4.3%

Total Core Portfolio (2)		  103		  12,787	 $	 370,568	 $	 13,842		  3.9%

(1)	 Based on the period in which substantial completion of renovations were completed.
(2)	 Excludes one hotel acquired during 2014 and six non-core hotels which have been identified for divestiture.

HOTEL AND OTHER REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES EXPENSE
						      2014	 2013	 Variance %

Hotel							      $	 405,604 	 $	 451,255 		  (10.1%)
Other real estate properties					     	  1,110 		   1,506 		  (26.3%)

Hotel and other real estate properties					     $	 406,714 	 $	 452,761 		  (10.2%)
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Notwithstanding the $51.4 million, or 8.8%, total revenue decline,  
gross operating profit (“GOP”) only declined $5.3 million or 4.0%, 
highlighting the low yielding nature of assets sold. Excluding asset 
divestitures and acquisitions, GOP would have improved approximately 
$2.8 million or 2.3%.

Hotel GOP
The hotel industry has a high level of fixed costs with incremental revenue 
gains requiring marginal increases in costs. As a result, revenue growth 
achieved beyond inflation can contribute to substantial operating leverage 
for the portfolio. Notably, while occupancy growth contributes to 
improved profitability, more profit is achieved through increases in ADR. 
Conversely, in periods of marginal (below inflation) or declining revenues, 
decreases to expenses are limited, resulting in reduced profitability. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, Hotel GOP declined $4.6 million 
or 3.5% as compared to revenue declines of $50.3 million or 8.6%. 
Same-hotel GOP growth of $3.0 million (2.5%) was offset by reduced 

contribution to Hotel GOP from assets sold totalling $7.7 million. The 
addition of one hotel in mid-December 2014 contributed nominally to 
GOP for the year. Notwithstanding meaningful renovations taken place 
across a number of hotels, Hotel GOP for the Core portfolio increased 
3.1% in 2014 compared to a decrease in Hotel GOP of 22.3% for the 
remaining Non-Core portfolio. 

Overall Hotel GOP margins improved 120 basis points to 24.1%, largely 
benefiting from the divestiture of low yielding assets. Same-hotel GOP 
margin was down modestly to 25.0% reflecting renovation displacement 
at a number of hotels through the year offsetting improved GOP margins 
at certain renovated hotels. Limited cost savings are achieved during 
renovation periods given the high fixed-cost nature of expenses. For 
example, Hotel GOP margins for our Comfort Inns renovated in 2013 
improved 650 basis points, highlighting the positive operating leverage 
from improving revenue performance.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.)

Hotel expenses decreased $45.7 million (10.1%) in 2014, primarily 
reflecting the elimination of costs associated with assets sold. Same-
hotel expenses non-room increased approximately 3.8%, reflecting 
incremental costs associated with higher revenues achieved. 

Consistent with changes in revenues, other real estate properties during 
the year saw reduced operating expenses reflecting the sale of one 
office and retail complex during the second quarter of 2013.

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT
						      2014	 2013	 Variance %

Hotel							      $	 129,207 	 $	 133,832 		  (3.5%)
Other real estate properties					     	   (386)		   306 		  (226.2%)

Hotel and other real estate properties					     $	 128,821 	 $	 134,138 		  (4.0%)

				    Number of	 Number of	 2014	  Variance	 Variance 
Hotel GOP by Region	 Hotels	 Rooms	 Hotel GOP	 to Prior Year $	 to Prior Year %

Core Portfolio:
	 Ontario	  	 49 		   5,839 	 $	 44,925 	 $	 2,230 		  5.2%
	 Quebec		   22 		   2,493 	 	 17,829 		  (1,378)		  (7.2%)
	 Atlantic		   16 		   1,785 		  16,387 		  2,688 		  19.6%
	 Western		   16 		   2,670 		  42,607 		  87 		  0.2%

Total Core Portfolio		   103 		   12,787 	 $	 121,748 	 $	 3,627 		  3.1%
Non-Core Portfolio		   6 		   733 		  2,120 		  (609)		  (22.3%)

Same-Hotel Portfolio		   109 		   13,520 	 $	  123,868 	 $	  3,018 		  2.5%
Acquisition		   1 		   644 		  63 		  63 		  –

Total Current Portfolio		  110		  14,164	 $	 123,931	 $	 3,081		  2.5%
2014 dispositions		   19 		   2,383 		  5,334 		  (7,113)		  nm
2013 dispositions and lease surrender		   8 		   1,819 		  (58)	 	 (593)		  nm

					      137 	  	 18,366 	  $	 129,207	  $	 (4,625)		  (3.5%)

“nm” – not meaningful

		  /	 23

ANNUAL REPORT 2014



OTHER EXPENSES
						      2014	 2013	 Variance %

Corporate and administrative					     $	 12,033 	  $	 5,147 		  133.8%
Interest expense			 
	 Mortgages and other debt					     	 47,605	  	 45,460 		  4.7%
	 Convertible debentures					     	 21,441	  	 25,418 		  (15.6%)
Joint venture income					     	 (4,998)	 	 (4,433)		  12.7%
Other income and expense, net					     	 (26,938)		  (6,555)		  311.0%
Writedown of hotel properties, net					     	 3,754 		  30,840	  	 (87.8%)
Depreciation and amortization					     	 81,149 		  82,534 		  (1.7%)
Unrealized loss on liabilities presented at fair value					     	 9,502 		  12,768	  	 (25.6%)

Other expenses					     $	 143,548 	 $	 191,179 		  (24.9%)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.)

The following table summarizes operating results across our Core 
Portfolio and serves to highlight the profitability impact while renovations  
are underway, as well as the growth achieved to-date following the 
completion of renovations. 58 Comfort Inn hotels have been renovated 
since 2013 (31 in 2013; 27 in 2014). Those renovated in 2013 saw 
increased Hotel GOP by 33.6% in 2014 while those renovated during 
2014 saw Hotel GOP decline 19.5%, reflecting the displacement impact 

Other expenses during the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased 
$47.6 million or 24.9%. 

As part of a settlement reached in March 2014 following an agreement 
with certain unitholders, InnVest incurred $3.6 million in non-recurring 
corporate and administrative costs during the first quarter of 2014, 
including the reimbursement of customary transaction costs incurred 
by the parties involved. Excluding this amount, corporate and 
administrative costs increased $3.3 million in 2014. Higher corporate 
and administrative costs reflect the following:

during the year of renovations. Overall, Hotel GOP for the Core Comfort 
Inn portfolio improved 8.0% as compared to the prior year. This growth 
rate significantly exceeds results achieved from our remaining portfolio, 
highlighting the return opportunities provided by internal investments 
within the existing portfolio. Moreover, the table below indicates that 
GOP for renovated hotels generally take a few quarters to ramp-up.

•	 non-recurring transitional expenses approximating $1.3 million which 
included the temporary addition of an interim Managing Director and 
costs incurred in the search for a permanent chief executive officer 
for the REIT;

•	 incremental costs associated with a full-time CFO beginning in the 
second quarter;

•	 a $1.4 million non-cash loss on the settlement of pension plans in 
2014; and

•	 higher accrued charges relating to changes to the trustee 
compensation plan. 

				    Number of	 Number of	 2014	  Variance	 Variance 
Hotel GOP by Renovation Schedule	 Hotels	 Rooms	 Hotel GOP	 to Prior Year $	 to Prior Year %

Core Comfort Inn Portfolio (1)					   
	 Q2 2013 renovations		  7		  607	 $	 5,883	 $	 2,020		  52.3%
	 Q3 2013 renovations		  12		  892		  8,814		  2,022		  29.8%
	 Q4 2013 renovations 		  12		  1,003		  7,881		  1,631		  26.1%

Renovated in 2013 (1)		  31		  2,502	 $	 22,578	 $	 5,673		  33.6%
	 Q1 2014 renovations 		  4		  295		  3,098		  (325)		  (9.5%)
	 Q2 2014 renovations 		  11		  687		  4,755		  (1,216)		  (20.4%)
	 Q3 2014 renovations 		  1		  146		  441		  (181)		  (29.1%)
	 Q4 2014 renovations 		  11		  849		  4,326		  (1,335)		  (23.6%)

Renovated in 2014		  27		  1,977	 $	 12,620	 $	 (3,057)		  (19.5%)

Total Renovated – Core Comfort Inn Portfolio		  58		  4,479	 $	 35,198	 $	 2,616		  8.0%
Full service Core hotels renovation		  5		  1,475	 	 25,681		  (361)		  (1.4%)
Other Core hotels		  40		  6,833		  60,869		  1,372		  2.3%

Total Core Portfolio (2)		  103		  12,787	 $	 121,748	 $	 3,627		  3.1%

(1)	 Based on the period in which substantial completion of renovations were completed.
(2)	 Excludes one hotel acquired during the year and six non-core hotels which have been identified for divestiture.
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Effective December 1, 2014, InnVest internalized its asset management 
function. Incremental corporate and administrative expenses are 
expected to be incurred as InnVest develops its assets management 
platform. External asset management fees previously included in 
‘Operating expenses’ will be eliminated. For the year ended December 31, 
2014, InnVest paid $1.4 million in external asset management fees  
(2013 – $1.8 million).

On December 17, 2014, the REIT announced the appointment of a new 
President and CEO. As part of his inducement, the President and CEO 
was awarded an equity grant effective on his start date, January 26, 
2015, of 400,000 units vesting at a rate of 80,000 units per year over  
a four-year period with the first tranche vesting upon his start date  
and each subsequent tranche vesting on each subsequent anniversary 
thereafter. In January 2015, 80,000 were awarded to the President and 
CEO. Unvested units granted will be expensed on a grading schedule 
based on their vesting period. Excluding mark-to-market revaluations, 
management expects to incur a non-cash expense relating to this 
vesting schedule of approximately $1.5 million in 2015 (2016 –  
$0.6 million; 2017 – $0.3 million; 2018 – $0.1 million).

Higher mortgage interest expenses during the year ended December 
31, 2014 reflect the new mortgage associated with the Hyatt Regency 
acquisition in December 2014, the funding of the KingSett loan during 
the second quarter (refer to Related Party Transactions) and higher 
amortization of deferred financing fees relating to new debt and an 
election to not extend a maturity in early 2015. These increases were 
somewhat offset by the net repayment of mortgage debt from asset 
sales. Proceeds from the KingSett loan were partially used to repay 
convertible debentures. Convertible debenture interest savings reflect 
the redemption of InnVest’s $70 million Series C Debentures in early 
June and the purchase for cancellation of $28.8 million of its Series G 
Debentures on July 31, 2014 (refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources). 

Joint venture income reflects InnVest’s 50% interest in the net profits  
of Choice Canada. For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest’s 
joint venture income generated $5.0 million (2013 – $4.4 million). 

Annual results include $18.8 million of net gains on asset sales completed 
during the year as well as non-cash net gains on the early settlement and 
amendments to the Series D and G Debentures totalling $11.6 million, 
each shown in ‘Other income and expense, net’. Annual results also 
include a $7.3 million non-cash impairment charge relating to five 
properties, and a $3.5 million reversal of prior impairments, shown in 
‘Writedown of hotel and other real estate properties, net’ above. 

In the prior year, InnVest entered into an agreement with the landlord  
of one of its leasehold hotels for an early lease surrender effective 
December 31, 2013, by which time the hotel ceased operations. As  
part of the lease surrender agreement, InnVest recognized a charge  
of $6.5 million, representing an early termination fee payable to the 
landlord, as well as employee severance obligations related to the  
closure of the hotel. 

InnVest acquired the Hyatt Regency Vancouver in December 2014 for 
$139.0 million (net of a $1.0 million credit from the vendor). Transaction 
costs of $4.3 million were expensed including $2.4 million related to 

land transfer costs and $1.0 million relating to non-recoverable sales 
taxes paid on chattels.

InnVest accounts for various unit-based instruments as financial 
liabilities. These instruments are re-measured at their fair value at  
each reporting period resulting in non-cash gains or losses based on 
the volatility of InnVest’s unit price over the periods presented and  
their impact on convertible debenture holders’ conversion option 
feature. For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest recognized  
a fair value loss of $9.5 million (2013 – $12.8 million). 

INCOME TAXES 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest generated a deferred 
income tax recovery of $nil as compared to a deferred income tax 
recovery of $2.1 million in the prior period. 

For distributions paid in 2014, 8% will not be taxable to Canadian 
resident unitholders through a non-taxable portion of capital gains 
(2012 – 28%). The decrease in the non-taxable portion can be attributed  
to capital gains experienced on hotels sold during the year.

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest realized a net loss  
of $14.7 million ($0.152 per unit diluted) compared to a net loss of  
$55.0 million in the prior period ($0.586 per unit diluted). Refer to  
FFO for a comparison of profitability excluding non-recurring costs  
and non-cash items.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (FFO)
For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest generated FFO  
of $58.5 million ($0.574 per unit diluted) compared to $63.8 million  
in the prior period ($0.624 per unit diluted). The $5.4 million reduction 
primarily reflects lower Hotel GOP as a result of asset sales (offset  
by corresponding debt repayment savings) as well as higher corporate 
and administrative costs. The issuance of incremental units in  
November 2014 (refer to Unit Information) also contributed to the  
lower diluted per unit results.

Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Additional IFRS Financial 
Measures for a reconciliation of net loss to FFO.

ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (AFFO) 
(formerly referred to herein as Distributable Income)
For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest generated AFFO of 
$44.4 million ($0.441 per unit diluted) compared to $46.1 million in the 
prior period ($0.462 per unit diluted). The $1.8 million reduction reflects 
the lower FFO generated partially offset by decreased FF&E Reserve 
following asset sales. Refer to Non-IFRS Financial Measures and 
Additional IFRS Financial Measures for a reconciliation of FFO to AFFO. 
The issuance of incremental units in November 2014 (refer to Unit 
Information) also contributed to the lower diluted per unit results.

Distributions declared in 2014 totalled $39.2 million, or $0.3996  
per unit (2013 – $37.5 million or $0.3996 per unit).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (cont.)
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, cash generated by operating 
activities increased $1.3 million to $60.2 million as compared to 2013.  
A working capital improvement of $11.2 million (refer to Related Party 
Transactions) was somewhat offset by lower Hotel GOP achieved and 
higher corporate and administrative costs during the year. The improved 
working capital results from working capital adjustment of $4.2 million 
relating to the Hyatt Regency acquisition in December 2014 as well as 
deposits on the Royal York acquisition which closed in early 2015.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term debt include the following, each net of 
issuance costs:

•	 refinancing of the Sheraton Eau Claire, Calgary ($68.0 million);
•	 new KingSett subordinated term loan financing ($50.0 million); and
•	 amounts drawn on a capital loan facility ($18.3 million).

Proceeds from these financings were used to fund the early redemption 
of InnVest’s $70.0 million 5.85% Series C convertible debentures in  
June 2014, the repayment for cancellation of $28.8 million of Series G 
5.75% convertible debentures in July 2014, as well as to repay certain 
mortgage maturities.

Cash distributions in 2014 totalled $35.3 million as compared to  
$37.0 million in the prior period. The reduction reflects the higher 
distribution re-investment program participation in 2014. 

Financing activities reflect the November 2014 equity offering  
and private placement for aggregate net proceeds of $107.2 million 
(gross proceeds of $110.5 million) (refer to Unit Information) as well  
as the payment-in-kind for one-time fees and partial interest payments 
for the KingSett loans (refer to Related Party Transactions).

Financing activities in the prior period reflected net proceeds of  
$110.0 million from the Series G 5.75% convertible debentures issued  
in February 2013 (gross proceeds of $115.0 million). Proceeds were 
used to fund the early redemption of $75.0 million of Series B – 6.0% 
convertible debentures on April 1, 2013 and to repay the amount  
drawn on the operating line of credit.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing activities include the acquisition of the Hyatt Regency 
Vancouver which was funded with a $70 million mortgage  
and funds raised from the equity issuance and private placement  
in November 2014.

In assessing the operating performance of its hotels, InnVest deducts  
a 4% to 5% FF&E Reserve to replace furniture, fixtures and equipment 
and capital improvements. Whether funds are specifically set aside or 
not, this FF&E Reserve is a source of funding to maintain the quality of 
the portfolio. Capital expenditures during the year ended December 31, 
2014 totalled $76.9 million (2013 – $60.2 million) compared to the 
FF&E Reserve of $22.6 million (2013 – $24.6 million). Incremental 
capital above the FF&E Reserve was funded through cash generated 
from asset sales and cash on hand from incremental financing proceeds.

In early 2013, InnVest announced a strategic plan which included 
significant capital investments in its core hotel portfolio through the end 
of 2014 (refer to Our Strategy). Capital investments undertaken in 2013 
and 2014 reflect the completion of InnVest’s Comfort Inn revitalization 
program (guest rooms, bathrooms, corridors, lobby and breakfast 
room) at 58 hotels. Other significant projects undertaken in 2014 
included guest room upgrades at the Delta Prince Edward (all 211 guest 
rooms were completed in early May 2014), Fairmont Palliser in Calgary 
(approximately 130 guest rooms were completed in June 2014), the 
continuation of phased renovations at the Sheraton Suites Calgary Eau 
Claire (over 150 guest rooms were completed in April 2014), the final 
phase of guest room renovations at the Delta Winnipeg (over 200 guest 
rooms were completed in September 2014) and the conversion of one 
unbranded hotel in London to a Holiday Inn (rebranded in October 
2014). The decrease in restricted cash reflects its use to fund certain  
of these capital investments during the period. 

Investing activities reflect annual distributions of $5.0 million received 
from InnVest’s investment in Choice Canada (2013 – $4.5 million).

Investing activities also include gross proceeds of $124.3 million  
(net of a $2.1 million lease receivable) from the sale of 19 properties  
in 2014 (eight properties were sold in 2013 for gross proceeds of 
$113.1 million).

CHANGES IN FINANCIAL CONDITION
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SEASONALITY
InnVest’s operations are seasonal and as such its results are not 
consistent throughout the year. Revenue earned from hotel operations 
fluctuates throughout the year, with the third quarter being the highest 
due to the increased level of leisure travel in the summer months and 
the first quarter being the lowest because leisure travel tends to be 
lower during that period. The results from operations vary materially 

The fourth quarter of 2014 contributed AFFO of $8.2 million (2013 – 
$8.1 million) and FFO of $10.4 million (2013 – $12.4 million). Excluding 
a $1.2 million prior period inclusion of business interruption proceeds, 
FFO declined approximately $0.8 million largely reflecting higher 
amortization of deferred financing fees relating to new debt and an 
election to not extend a maturity in early 2015 (resulted in a $1.0 million 
deferred financing charge in the fourth quarter). AFFO was unchanged 
from the prior year. Net loss of $1.2 million in 2014 compared favourably  
to a net loss of $47.7 million in the prior year. 

Operating highlights for the fourth quarter include:

•	 Same-hotel RevPAR increased 3.7% benefiting from improvement  
in ADR and occupancy. InnVest completed renovations to its final  
11 Comfort Inn hotels during the fourth quarter as well as one 
full-service hotel which was rebranded;

•	 Same-hotel revenues improved 2.2% led by strength in Ontario and 
Atlantic Canada. Same-hotel revenues in Western Canada were down 
modestly reflecting the prior year inclusion of $1.2 million of business 
interruption insurance revenue related to Calgary floods in late  
June 2013. Growth following renovations to the Delta Winnipeg was 
somewhat offset by slowing demand trends in the Alberta region 
(owing to the decline in the price of oil) and reduced performance in 
the Regina market (hosted the Grey Cup in prior year). Renovations 
at a number of limited service hotels in Quebec constrained growth 
achieved during the quarter;

from quarter to quarter given the seasonal nature of the revenue 
stream and the fact that certain costs such as property taxes, insurance, 
interest, and depreciation and amortization are fixed or virtually fixed. 
The quarterly results highlighted below have been impacted by asset 
divestitures completed since 2013 and consequently are not reflective 
of the typical seasonality of the portfolio on a same-hotel basis.

•	 Overall revenues declined $14.2 million or 10.1%, with asset sales 
contributing $19.1 million of reduced revenues; 

•	 Excluding the prior year business interruption proceeds, GOP declined 
$0.8 million during the quarter or approximately 2.8% reflecting the 
planned reduction in hotels due to the divestiture program (21 hotels 
have been sold since the fourth quarter of 2013); and

•	 Acquired the Hyatt Regency Vancouver in December 2014. Transaction  
costs of $4.3 million relating to this acquisition were expensed during 
the fourth quarter including $2.4 million related to land transfer  
costs and $1.0 million relating to non-recoverable sales taxes paid  
on chattels.

Corporate and administrative expenses increased $1.6 million year-
over-year and are reflective of incremental expenses relating to 
InnVest's business transition which included the addition of an interim 
Managing Director, costs incurred in the search for a permanent chief 
executive officer for the REIT as well as a $1.4 million non-cash loss on 
the settlement of pension plans during the quarter.

Three hotels were sold in the fourth quarter. InnVest recognized a  
net gain on sales of $14.2 million as well as the reversal of prior period 
impairments of $0.7 million. The prior year included a $29.8 million 
non-cash impairment charge relating to 13 properties (12 hotels and  
1 other real estate) and an impairment reversal of $1.3 million. The 
prior year period included a $6.5 million charge relating to an early 
lease surrender.

QUARTERLY RESULTS 

				    Quarter Ended (unaudited)	 Quarter Ended (unaudited)

				    Q4	 Q3	 Q2	 Q1	 Q4	 Q3	 Q2	 Q1 
				    2014	 2014	 2014	 2014	 2013	 2013	 2013	 2013

Revenues	 $	 126,439 	 $	 148,434 	 $	 146,231 	 $	 114,431 	 $	 140,667 	 $	 161,133 	 $	 161,276 	 $	 123,822 
Gross operating profit		  27,766 		  48,398 		  39,004	  	 13,653 	 	  29,751	  	  47,537 		   43,429 		   13,421 
Net (loss) income		  (1,182)		  16,508 		  4,818	  	 (34,871)	 	 (47,741)		  13,946 		  20,505 		  (41,666)
FFO				    10,359 		  31,720	  	 20,765 		  (4,393)	 	 12,432 		  31,504 		  25,097 		  (5,231)
AFFO			   8,205	  	 27,319 		  16,450	  	 (7,623)	 	 8,133 		  26,482 		  20,174 		  (8,644)
Distributions declared		   10,910 		   9,481 		   9,453 		   9,378 		   9,373 		   9,368 		   9,364 		   9,360 

Per unit – diluted:
	 Net (loss) income	 $	 (0.011) 	 $	 0.161 	 $	 0.051 	 $	 (0.372)	 $	 (0.509)	 $	 0.139 	 $	 0.189 	 $	 (0.445)
	 FFO 			   0.100 		   0.278 	  	 0.190 		   (0.049)	  	 0.127 		   0.270	  	  0.223 		   (0.056)
	 AFFO		  0.079 		   0.239	  	  0.151 		   (0.081)	  	 0.086 		   0.226 		   0.180 		   (0.092)

Trust units outstanding	 116,280,294 	 94,992,322 	 94,713,251 	 93,909,613 	 93,830,897 	 93,788,684 	 93,745,281 	 93,702,704 
Weighted average trust  
	 units outstanding	 103,154,099 	 94,863,069 	 94,433,893 	 93,858,254 	 93,812,648 	 93,770,602 	 93,726,338 	 93,663,167 

Total assets	 $	 1,329,285 	 $	 1,186,098 	 $	 1,227,354 	 $	 1,271,608 	 $	 1,280,541 	 $	 1,339,982 	 $	 1,387,235 	 $	 1,468,212 
Total long-term debt		   782,951 		   709,493 		   714,154 	  	 688,038 		   674,088 		   680,851 		   690,792 		   714,399
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InnVest has several sources of liquidity including the following:

Cash Generated from Hotel Operations: InnVest’s operations are 
seasonal with the third quarter being the highest earnings period and 
the first quarter typically being the weakest earnings period given the 
different levels of business and leisure travel during these quarters. 
Over the annual period, InnVest anticipates generating GOP sufficient 
to fund distributions to unitholders, the annual FF&E Reserve, corporate 
and administrative expenses and debt service requirements. 

Credit Facilities: At December 31, 2014, InnVest has various credit 
facilities including a revolving operating line, a capital expenditure  
line and a bridge loan facility. Refer to Debt Strategy for a detailed 
description of each of these credit facilities. These credit facilities can 
be used to finance temporary shortfalls in cash resulting from business 
seasonality and working capital fluctuations, to cover letters of credit, 
to provide short-term financing in the event of the acquisition of a new 
hotel, to provide additional short-term liquidity pending the sale of 
assets and/or permanent financing, and to fund a portion of capital 
expenditures in accordance with mortgage terms. 

Issuing Additional Debt: InnVest also has the ability to raise funds  
by mortgaging its properties or by issuing either unsecured debt or 
unsecured convertible debt securities. InnVest typically uses long-term 
debt financing to refinance existing debt or to finance an acquisition. 
The ability to secure debt financing on reasonable terms is ultimately 
dependent on market conditions and the lender’s determination  
of InnVest’s creditworthiness. At December 31, 2014, substantially  
all of InnVest’s hotel assets have been pledged as security under  
debt agreements.

Issuing Additional Equity Securities: InnVest’s listing on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange gives it the ability to access, subject to market 
conditions, additional equity through the issuance of units or equity-
linked instruments. 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest has total current liquidity of  
$119.1 million (total potential liquidity of $121.3 million). Subsequent  
to the end of the year, InnVest funded its share of the previously 
announced acquisition of a 20% interest in the Royal York Hotel for 
approximately $17.3 million (net of financing obtained) and expects to 
contribute an estimated $10.0 million additional investment to complete 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

InnVest’s total asset carrying value was $1,329.3 million at December 31, 2014, up $48.7 million, as compared to $1,280.5 million at December 31, 
2013. The following table summarizes some of the key balance sheet movements year-over-year.

				    2014	 2013

Current assets		
	 Cash		 $	 56,404 	 $	 20,261  
 

	 Accounts receivable	  	 22,175 	  	 28,788 
 	 Prepaid expenses and  
		  other assets		  7,734 	  	 8,915 
	 Finance lease receivable 		   2,078 	  	 6,413
 
	 Assets held for sale 		   14,924 	  	 58,658

 					      103,315 		   123,035 
Non-current assets		
	 Restricted cash 		   2,236 	  	 6,760 
	 Investment in joint venture		   1,179 	  	 1,202 
	 Hotel properties		   1,210,143 	  	 1,135,503 
	 Other real estate properties		   1,918 		   1,964 
	 Intangible assets		   10,494 	  	 12,077 
	 Deferred income tax asset		  – 		  – 

Total assets	 $	 1,329,285 	 $	 1,280,541 

ASSET PROFILE

Hotel properties (inclusive of those held for sale) comprise over 90%  
of InnVest’s total assets. Activity during the year ended December 31, 
2014 included the acquisition of one hotel which resulted in an increase 
in hotel properties of $139.0 million as well as capital additions  
totalling $76.9 million. These additions were partially offset by annual 

depreciation of $79.3 million as well as asset sales. In accordance with 
its strategic plan, InnVest completed the sale of 19 hotels in 2014 for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $126.4 million. These transactions 
contributed to a reduction in hotel properties of $98.7 million as 
compared to December 31, 2013.

Incremental cash on hand following equity offering and private placement  
in late November 2014 (refer to Unit Information) which was partially  
used to fund an acquisition in February 2015.

Reduced balance reflective of smaller portfolio following asset sales.

Used to fund certain capital expenditures during the year.

See description below. 

Two hotels classified as held for sale at December 31, 2014 (2013 – 15 hotels).

Temporary lease financing arrangement on one asset sale pending  
mortgage maturity.
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renovations over the 24 months following the acquisition. The Royal 
York Hotel acquisition closed in February 2015 and was funded with 
available cash. Refer to Our Strategy – Recent Developments. InnVest 
also funded the early redemption of $3.6 million of Series D Debentures 
in March 2015 with available liquidity. Refer to Unit Information.

					    December 31, 2014

Cash 	 				    $	 56,404
Operating line availability (net of letters of credit)			   29,719
Bridge line availability				    24,547
Capital expenditure loan facility availability			   8,386 

Total current liquidity			   $	 119,056 
Additional liquidity contingent on  
	 capital expenditures incurred:
Restricted cash				    2,236

Total potential liquidity at December 31, 2014		  $	 121,292

InnVest’s credit and liquidity facilities, cash on hand and expected cash 
flow from operations, and the potential to sell assets or access debt and 
equity markets are expected to allow InnVest to meet all its financial 
commitments. There can be no assurance that capital market conditions 
will enable possible debt or equity issuance, if or when desirable, or on 
terms and costs advantageous to InnVest. If necessary, near-term 
disruptions to operating earnings and cash flow could be addressed 
through reductions in discretionary capital allocation decisions such as 
capital investments above the FF&E Reserve and/or distributions. 

CASH ON HAND 
At December 31, 2014, InnVest has cash totalling $58.6 million, of 
which $2.2 million is restricted to undertake capital refurbishments  
in accordance with certain mortgage and franchise agreements. 

Capital expenditures during the year ended December 31, 2014  
totalled $76.9 million (2013 – $60.2 million) compared to the allocated 
FF&E Reserve of $22.6 million (2013 – $24.6 million). Incremental 
capital expenditures above the allocated FF&E Reserve were funded 
through cash generated from asset sales and cash on hand from 
incremental financing proceeds. At December 31, 2014, future capital 
commitments approximated $15.1 million.

The following chart shows the changes in the FF&E Reserve restricted 
cash balance since December 31, 2014.
				    2014	 2013

Opening balance, January 1,	 $	 6,760 	 $	 8,739 
FF&E Reserve		   22,568 	  	 24,612 
Transferred from operating cash		   31,540 	  	 16,035 
Funded through capital loan facility  
	 (added to mortgage debt)		   18,300 	  	 17,587 
Capital expenditures	  	 (76,932)	  	 (60,213)

Closing balance, December 31	 $	 2,236 	 $	 6,760

DEBT STRATEGY
InnVest’s debt strategy involves the use of various forms of debt 
including conventional property-specific secured mortgages, unsecured 
convertible debentures, secured floating interest rate bank financing 
and subordinated term loans. Management’s objectives are to maximize 
its liquidity sources and flexibility while maintaining access to low cost 
debt and a staggered debt maturity schedule to manage interest rate 
and refinancing risk. 

Credit Facility and Bridge Loans
InnVest’s operations are seasonal (refer to Quarterly Results). InnVest’s 
credit facility ensures that the seasonal fluctuation in cash flows will  
not affect its ability to operate in the normal course of business. 

InnVest has an operating line of credit of up to $40.0 million with a major  
banking institution which matures August 31, 2016. At December 31, 
2014, the operating line is secured by nine properties. The amount of 
availability for the operating line is subject to a mortgageability test, 
which is based on the operating results of the secured properties. 
Interest rates are based on the lesser of (i) Canadian prime rate plus 
2.0% and (ii) the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus 3.0%.  
Based on the operating results of the secured properties for the four 
quarters ended December 31, 2014, InnVest qualifies for $37.9 million 
availability under the line of credit, before inclusion of outstanding 
letters of credit. At December 31, 2014, no amount was drawn on the 
credit facility (December 31, 2013 – $nil). Letters of credit totalling  
$8.2 million were issued pursuant to the facility including $6.0 million 
relating to a deposit on the pending acquisition of the Royal York Hotel, 
which closed in early 2015 (December 31, 2013 – $2.2 million). 

During 2014, InnVest finalized a bridge loan for up to $40.0 million  
to be used pending permanent financing or the sale of assets. As at 
December 31, 2014, the bridge loan is secured by four properties 
(reduced from six hotels originally following the sale of one hotel and 
the removal of a second hotel which was pledged against a separate 
facility), expires in May 2015 and bears interest at Canadian prime plus 
1.5% or the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus 2.5%. The amount 
available under the bridge loan is subject to a mortgageability test, 
which is based on the operating results of the secured properties.  
At December 31, 2014, InnVest qualifies for $24.5 million availability,  
of which no amount was drawn. 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest has a $2.0 million (December 31, 2013 –  
$2.8 million) bridge loan secured by one hotel which bears interest  
at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus 4.0%. In early 2015, 
InnVest extended the bridge loan to February 29, 2016. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (cont.)
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Mortgages, Subordinated Term Loans and  
Convertible Debentures
InnVest attempts to stagger the maturity of fixed-term debt to 
minimize interest and financing risks. 
				    December 31, 	 December 31,
				    2014	 2013

Mortgages and subordinated  
	 term loans		
Mortgages and subordinated  
	 term loans payable	  $	 799.4 	  $	 705.7 
Weighted average term to maturity	 	 2.8 years		  3.3 years
Weighted average interest rate		  5.5%	 	 5.8%
Percentage of mortgages and  
	 subordinated term loans at  
	 floating interest rate debt		  21.0%		  3.6%
Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures outstanding	 $	 247.6	 $	 346.4
Weighted average term to maturity		  3.2 years	 	 3.5 years
Weighted average interest rate		  6.1%		  5.9%

Total mortgages payable at December 31, 2014 include  
$8.6 million presented as current liabilities related to assets held  
for sale (December 31, 2013 – $27.2 million). During the year ended 
December 31, 2014, 19 hotels were sold contributing to mortgage 
repayments of approximately $18.2 million. In early 2015, management 
elected not to exercise a one-year option to extend mortgage debt of 
$155.8 million (resulted in the elimination of the remaining related 
deferred financing fees during the fourth quarter of 2014). As a result, 
InnVest has almost $220 million of mortgages with a weighted average 
interest rate of 5.5% maturing in 2015. Management expects to 
refinance this debt on advantageous terms including reducing the 
interest rate and further extending the term to maturity.

In January 2014, management completed the refinancing of the 
Sheraton Eau Claire, Calgary for $68.0 million at a fixed interest rate  
of 5.33% for a 10-year term. Incremental proceeds of $36.4 million  
from the refinancing were available to partially repay a $45.4 million 
mortgage maturity in April 2014 (secured by 10 properties). Following 
this repayment, one of the unencumbered assets was pledged to  
the operating line of credit facility, one asset was sold as part of a 
previous financing arrangement (eliminated the finance lease 
receivable), two of the assets were applied to substitute mortgage 
security to accommodate assets sales, and the remaining six hotels 
were pledged toward the $40.0 million bridge loan (two of which  
have subsequently been removed). 

In April 2014, InnVest entered into and closed a credit agreement with 
KingSett for a four-year $50.0 million subordinated term loan. Proceeds 
were available to fund the early redemption of InnVest’s $70.0 million 
Series C convertible debentures on June 3, 2014. Upon the payment of 
a standby fee, KingSett also provided InnVest with a facility to draw an 
additional $50.0 million subordinated non-revolving stand-by liquidity 
facility. This stand-by liquidity facility was undrawn and expired in 
December 2014. Refer to Related Party Transactions for a discussion  
of the terms of these loans. 

In December 2014, InnVest entered into a new $70.0 million floating  
rate three-year term mortgage (plus two one-year renewal options) to 
fund the acquisition of the Hyatt. The mortgage bears interest at the 
Canadian Bankers' Acceptance rate plus 2.5%. 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest has four series of fixed-rate convertible 
debentures totalling $247.6 million (December 31, 2013 – $346.4 million).  
InnVest has made significant progress in 2014 in achieving its objective to 
reduce reliance on dilutive convertible debt (refer to Unit Information):

•	 In June 2014, InnVest completed the early redemption of its  
$70.0 million Series C convertible debentures; 

•	 In July 2014, InnVest purchased for cancellation $28.8 million of  
its Series G convertible debentures following the completion of  
a tender offer; and

•	 Subsequent to the end of the year, InnVest called its $36.4 million 
Series D convertible debentures for early redemption March 3, 2015. 

Pro forma the early redemption of the Series D convertible debentures, 
InnVest will have three series of fixed-rate convertible debentures 
totalling $211.2 million. 

Prior year financing activities included the refinancing of a $183.8 million 
mortgage. The mortgage carried its then-existing interest weighted 
average interest rate of 6.0% through May 2014 (the original  
maturity date). 

As part of certain mortgage agreements, InnVest has access to a  
loan facility for up to $30.0 million to fund 65% of capital expenditures 
incurred at certain of its hotels. At December 31, 2014, InnVest has 
remaining capacity on this facility of $8.4 million (December 31, 2013 –  
$26.7 million). 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest has approximately $71.9 million 
(December 31, 2013 – $121.0 million) of mortgages secured by conduit 
financing all of which mature in 2015 (weighted average interest rate of 
5.3%). Management is in the process of refinancing these mortgages.

The following chart highlights InnVest’s mortgage (excluding those  
held for sale), subordinated term loans and convertible debentures 
maturity schedule at December 31, 2014, pro forma the redemption  
of the Series D convertible debentures on March 3, 2015.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (cont.)
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Management elected not to exercise a two-year renewal option on $155.8 million 
of 2015 maturities given its expectation to refinance such debt on advantageous 
terms during the year.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (cont.)

Based on recent negotiations with lenders and its knowledge and 
experience refinancing mortgages and accessing the public markets, 
management plans to address its debt maturities in the normal course 
of business. Continued contraction of interest rate spreads, along with 
decreases in bond yields since the end of 2013, are allowing borrowing 
rates for the industry to remain attractive. 

LEVERAGE
InnVest is not permitted to exceed certain financial leverage amounts 
under the terms of its Declaration of Trust. InnVest is permitted to incur 
indebtedness up to a level of 60% of gross asset value (75% including 
convertible debentures). The financial ratio is computed as of the last day 
of each financial year excluding any indebtedness under any operating 
line, non-interest bearing indebtedness, trade accounts payable and for 
greater certainty, deferred income tax liability. Management’s policy is  
not to exceed this leverage limit at any time during the year. Separately, 
InnVest is further limited by its credit facility covenant, which limits 
aggregate indebtedness (including convertible debentures) to a level  
up to 70% of gross asset value as at the end of every quarter.

Consistent with its strategic objective to decrease its debt leverage, 
during the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest reduced its leverage 
350 basis points to 62.0% (December 31, 2013 – 65.5%). InnVest’s 
leverage excluding convertible debentures was 47.4% (December 31, 
2013 – 44.0%). Initiatives undertaken in early 2015 include the  
early redemption of InnVest’s Series D convertible debenture which 
further improved pro forma leverage to approximately 60%. Refer to  
Unit Information. 

				    December 31, 2014

Total assets per  
	 Consolidated Balance Sheet	 $	 1,329,285 	
Accumulated depreciation  
	 and amortization	 	 363,923 	

Gross Asset Value	 $	 1,693,208 	

Book value of mortgages and  
	 other indebtedness (1)	 $	 801,363 		  47.4%
Convertible debentures (2)	 	 247,608 		  14.6%

Total debt	 $	 1,048,971 		  62.0%(3)

(1)	 Mortgages payable are gross of financing issuance costs and include $8.6 million 
in mortgages related to assets held for sale.		

(2)	 Adjusted to face value.		
(3)	 Total debt leverage of 59.9% pro forma the early redemption of Series D 

convertible debentures.

InnVest’s financial strategy includes maintaining a strong balance  
sheet with appropriate leverage and staggered debt maturities in order 
to minimize InnVest’s cost of capital and provide adequate financial 
flexibility to withstand market cycles. InnVest has a target to reduce 
debt leverage (total debt to gross asset value) to below 60% and  
to reduce reliance on dilutive convertible debt. Significant progress has 
been made with respect to these objectives in 2014. Notwithstanding, 
there is no assurance that InnVest will achieve and maintain its targeted 
leverage reduction in a set timeframe. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS REPAYMENT SUMMARY
Given available liquidity, access to capital and expectations of improving economic and operating trends, management expects to be able to fund 
all commitments in the normal course of business.

The following table summarizes InnVest’s contractual obligations as at December 31, 2014. InnVest has no off-balance sheet items.

									         2020 and 	 Contractual
				    2015	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019 	 Thereafter 	 Cash flows (1)

Accounts payable and other liabilities	 $	 67,570 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 67,570  	
Liabilities related to assets held for sale		   9,144 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 9,144 	
Mortgage payable								      
 	 – principal (2)		   229,731 	  	 56,692 	  	 239,746 	  	 61,119 	  	 141,807 		   61,715 	  	 790,810 	
 	 – interest (3)	  	 35,953	  	 31,147 	  	 21,940 		   12,126 	  	 5,708 	  	 12,569 	  	 119,443 	
Bridge loan														                	
	 – principal		   2,000 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 		   2,000 	
	 – interest	  	 26 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 		   – 	  	 26 	
Convertible debentures														               	
 	 – principal	  	 – 	  	 36,358 	  	 75,000 	  	 50,000 		   86,250 	  	 – 	  	 247,608 	
 	 – interest	  	 15,218 	  	 13,378 	  	 12,764 		   6,827 	  	 2,695 	  	 – 	  	 50,882 	
Long-term land leases	  	 1,704 	  	 1,704 	  	 1,704 	  	 1,708 	  	 1,683 	  	 71,219 	  	 79,722 	
Capital commitments		   15,106 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 – 	  	 15,106 	

Total	  		  $	 376,452	 $	 139,279 	 $	 351,154 	 $	 131,780 	 $	 238,143 	 $	 145,503 	 $	 1,382,311 	

(1)	 Contractual cash flows include principal and interest payments and include extension options available to InnVest.	
(2)	 Principal includes regular amortization and repayments at maturity.	
(3)	 Interest amounts for floating rate debt is based on interest rates prevailing at December 31, 2014.
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Liquidity to fund distributions is generated from cash flow from 
operations, cash on hand, capacity under available credit facilities  
and by the ability to finance certain under-leveraged assets. First and 
fourth quarter distributions are typically partially funded through  
cash on hand and/or the temporary use of InnVest’s revolving credit 
facilities given the seasonality of revenues in contrast to costs which  
are fixed throughout the year. 

Distributions to unitholders are approved by InnVest’s Board. Each 
month, InnVest may distribute such percentage of its estimated 
adjusted funds from operations as the Trustees determine in their 
discretion. In exercising their discretion to approve the level of 
distributions, the Trustees rely on forecasts prepared by management 
and other financial information to determine if sufficient cash flow  
will be available to fund distributions. Such financial information is 
subject to change due to the nature of the Canadian hotel industry, 
which can be difficult to predict, even in the short run. Refer to  
Risks and Uncertainties. 

							       Years Ended December 31			

				    2014	 2013	 2012	 2011	 2010

AFFO	  	 $	 44,351 	 $	 46,185 	 $	 44,619 	 $	 46,440 	 $	 41,776 
Distributions		   39,222 		   37,465 	  	 37,383 	  	 44,896 	  	 44,384 

AFFO in excess of (less than) distributions	  	 5,129 	  	 8,720 	  	 7,236 	  	 1,544 	  	 (2,608)
Non-cash distributions made through the DRIP		   3,224 	  	 500 		   143 	  	 309 		   1,688 

AFFO in excess of (less than) cash distributions	 $	 8,353 	 $	 9,220 	 $	 7,379 	 $	 1,853 	 $	 (920)

AFFO Payout ratios:
	 Total distributions 		  88.4%		  81.1%		  83.8%		  96.7%		  106.2%

	 Cash distributions (excluding DRIP)		  81.2%		  80.0%		  83.5%		  96.0%		  102.2%

In assessing the operating performance of its hotels, InnVest deducts  
a 4% to 5% FF&E Reserve. Whether funds are specifically set aside or 
not, this FF&E Reserve is a source of funding to maintain the quality  
of the portfolio. Actual capital may be in excess of this notional FF&E 
Reserve, as evidenced in the past two years as InnVest completed its 
strategic plan and invested over $137 million in the portfolio (refer to 
Our Strategy), such that, if actual spending was deducted, distributions 
would have exceeded annual cash flow. As outlined in its strategic plan, 
capital invested in excess of the FF&E Reserve over the past two years 
was funded through the sale of assets and cash available from the 
issuance of additional debt.  

When assessing future distribution levels, management and the Board 
believe in maintaining a stable and conservative distribution level to 
minimize risk. Assuming improving cash flow from operations, this 
would result in a declining payout ratio over time.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, distributions totalling  
$39.2 million were declared ($0.3996 per unit). While the per unit level 
of distribution was unchanged, total distributions paid increased from 
$37.5 million in the prior year primarily reflecting the issuance of 
additional units through the DRIP as well as the equity and private 
placement offering in November 2014 (refer to Unit Information).

Distributions of $39.2 million in 2014 consist of cash distributions of 
$36.0 million and non-cash distributions of $3.2 million provided under 
the distribution reinvestment plan. The non-cash distributions have  

the effect of increasing the number of units outstanding, which will 
cause cash distributions to increase over time assuming stable per unit 
distribution levels. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest’s payout ratio was 
88.4% of AFFO as compared to 81.1% for the prior year. The higher 
payout ratio results from reduced GOP owing to asset sales as well as 
higher corporate and administrative expenses incurred as a result of 
transitional expenses during the year. 

DISTRIBUTIONS TO UNITHOLDERS

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (cont.)

As at December 31, 2014, InnVest has leasehold interests in seven of its 
hotels. The leaseholds require minimum annual average lease payments 
and expire between 2018 and 2088. At December 31, 2014, the average  
term of InnVest’s leaseholds exceeded 35 years. During the second 
quarter of 2014, InnVest sold three leasehold interests in hotels.

CONTINGENT OBLIGATIONS
InnVest and its operating subsidiaries are contingently liable with respect 
to litigation and claims that arise from time to time in the normal course 
of business. In the normal course of business, InnVest receives default 
notices relating to the maintenance of brand standards at certain hotels. 
InnVest typically disputes such notices and negotiates a resolution  
with its franchisors or management companies in cases where the 
management company provides the hotel brand which may include 
investments in hotels. 
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For each series of debentures, InnVest may elect, from time to time, to 
satisfy its obligation to pay interest by delivering units. Also, for each of 
its debentures, InnVest may, at its option, on not more than 60 days’ and 
not less than 30 days’ prior notice and subject to applicable regulatory 
approval, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all or any portion of the 
principal amount of the debentures that are to be redeemed or that are 
to mature by issuing units. The number of units to be issued in respect  
of each debenture will be determined by dividing the principal amount  
by 95% of the volume-weighted average trading price of the units on  
the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending 
on the fifth trading day preceding the date fixed for redemption or 
maturity, as the case may be. 

UNITS ISSUED
On November 26, 2014, InnVest issued 12,050,000 units, at a price  
of $5.25 per unit or $63.3 million (the “Public Offering”). Concurrently, 
InnVest issued 9,000,000 units to funds managed by KingSett,  
Orange Capital and Westmont Hospitality Group, three of InnVest’s 
largest Unitholders, together with certain trustees and officers of 
InnVest by way of a concurrent private placement at the same price per 
unit as those sold under the Public Offering (the “Concurrent Private 

Since January 1, 2014, InnVest issued units as follows: 

Units outstanding, January 1, 2013	  									         93,583,904 
Executive compensation plan										           94,500 
Distribution reinvestment plan										           115,550 
Trustee compensation plan										           36,943 

Units outstanding, December 31, 2013										           93,830,897 
Distribution reinvestment plan										           617,237 
Payment in kind related to long-term debt (1)										           720,311 
Executive compensation plan										           44,988 
Trustee compensation plan										           16,861 
Equity Issue, including Private Placement										          21,050,000 

Units outstanding, December 31, 2014								        	  116,280,294 

Issued subsequent to the year	
Executive compensation plan										           131,140 
Distribution reinvestment plan										           33,196 
Conversion of convertible debentures (2)	  									         5,742,110 

Units outstanding March 11, 2015									          122,186,740 

(1)	 Related to up-front fee and commitment fee and the payment in kind for a portion of monthly interest payable on the KingSett loan, refer to Related Party Transactions.
(2)	 Refer to 'Redemptions' below.

The following table summarizes the number of units issuable based on the convertible debentures outstanding at December 31, 2014.

						      Conversion	 Balance	 Units to Be Issued 
Convertible Debentures		  Maturity Date	 Strike Price	 Outstanding	 Upon Conversion

Series D	(1)	 March 31, 2016	 $	 5.70 	 $	 36,358 		   6,378,596 
Series E		 September 30, 2017	 $	 8.00 	 $	 75,000 		   9,375,000 
Series F		 March 30, 2018	 $	 9.45 	 $	 50,000 		   5,291,005 
Series G	(2)	 March 31, 2019	 $	 7.50	 $	 86,250	 11,500,000

(1)	 Refer to 'Redemptions' below.
(2)	 Refer to ‘Series G Tender and Amendments’ below.

Placement”) for gross proceeds of $47.3 million. Underwriting fees 
were not paid on the Concurrent Private Placement. The net proceeds 
from the Public Offering and Concurrent Private Placement were 
allocated to fund the acquisition of the Hyatt Regency Vancouver, for 
capital expenditures, debt repayment and potential future acquisitions, 
including the participation in the acquisition of the Royal York Hotel.

SERIES G TENDER AND AMENDMENTS
On July 31, 2014, InnVest completed a substantial issuer bid to purchase 
for cancellation $28.8 million of the outstanding principal amount of its 
Series G convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the “Series G 
Debentures”) at a purchase price of $1,080 for each $1,000 in principal 
amount (the “Series G Offer”). 

In connection with the Series G Offer, at a meeting for holders of  
the Series G Debentures on July 25, 2014, debentureholders approved 
certain amendments to the trust indenture governing the Series G 
Debentures as follows:

(i)	 increase the rate of coupon interest payable per annum on  
the Series G Debentures from 5.75% to 6.25% effective as of the 
commencement of the next interest accrual period, being  
December 31, 2014; and 

UNIT INFORMATION
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In accordance with InnVest’s corporate governance practices, all related 
party transactions are approved by the independent trustees.

WESTMONT HOSPITALITY CANADA LIMITED 
InnVest had an asset supervisory agreement relating to certain hotels 
owned by InnVest and not managed by Westmont. This agreement 
entitled Westmont to an asset management fee based on a fixed 
percentage of the purchase price of the hotel or a fixed percentage of 
Hotel GOP, subject to an annual minimum fee until November 30, 2014. 
Asset management of InnVest was internalized without termination 
costs, effective November 30, 2014. As a result, InnVest will no longer 
pay asset management fees to Westmont effective December 1, 2014. 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest paid asset 
management fees to Westmont of $1.4 million (2013 – $1.8 million).

InnVest has a management agreement for hotel management and 
accounting services and an administrative services agreement with 
Westmont. Westmont is controlled by a minority unitholder of InnVest 
and is currently entitled to appoint two members to the Board. 

(ii)	 increase the conversion price for each InnVest unit to be issued 
upon the conversion of one Series G Debenture from $5.80  
to $7.50 per unit. 

REDEMPTIONS
On June 3, 2014, InnVest completed the early redemption of its  
$70.0 million Series C 5.85% Debentures (due August 1, 2014). 

Subsequent to the end of the year, InnVest announced the early 
redemption of its Series D 6.75% Debentures on March 3, 2015  
(due March 31, 2016). Subsequent to December 31, 2014, Series D 
6.75% Debentures totalling $32.7 were converted into 5,739,465 units. 
On March 3, 2015, InnVest redeemed and cancelled $3.6 million of  
remaining Series D 6.75% Debentures. 

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN (“DRIP”)
InnVest has a DRIP whereby eligible Canadian unitholders may elect to 
have their distributions of income from InnVest automatically reinvested 
in additional units of InnVest. Effective September 2014, InnVest amended  
its DRIP to provide it discretion to purchase units on the open market or 
to be issued from treasury. If InnVest elects to issue units from treasury, 
unitholders who have elected to participate in the DRIP will receive 3% 
bonus units in addition to any units issued to them under the DRIP.

EXECUTIVE AND TRUSTEE  
COMPENSATION PROGRAMS
InnVest’s executive compensation program provides for the grant of 
restricted units to certain senior employees. Units granted vest equally 
on the third and fourth anniversary of the effective date of grant.  
At December 31, 2014, there were 58,794 unvested executive units 

On April 21, 2014, InnVest finalized an amendment and extension of 
the hotel management agreement on the following terms:

•	 The term of the agreement was extended until April 21, 2024 and 
may be renewed on the mutual consent of both parties.

•	 Westmont no longer has the exclusive right to manage InnVest’s 
acquired hotels. InnVest may consider appointing Westmont to 
manage any additional hotels on a case-by-case basis. Westmont 
was released from its non-compete arrangements.

•	 InnVest has the ability to terminate Westmont’s appointment to 
manage any or all hotels for any reason on 60 days’ prior written 
notice with respect to any or all of the hotels managed by Westmont, 
subject to a termination payment equal to three times the sum of  
all management fees earned or payable (as such fees are defined in 
the management agreement) in respect of the hotels no longer 
covered by the management agreement due to such termination 
during the 12-month period immediately preceding the month  
in which the termination occurs (subject to adjustment in  
certain circumstances).

granted under the plan (December 31, 2013 – 27,210). Given his 
short-term compensation agreement, units issued to InnVest’s former 
President and CEO vested immediately upon grant, rather than vesting 
over the three- and four-year periods. In January 2015, 44,000 units 
were granted to the former President and CEO (2014 – 40,000;  
2013 – 8,000).

On December 17, 2014, InnVest announced the appointment of a new 
President and CEO. As part of his inducement, the President and CEO 
was awarded an equity grant effective on his start date, January 26, 
2015, of 400,000 units vesting at a rate of 80,000 units (‘tranche”) over 
a four-year period with the first tranche vesting upon his start date  
and each subsequent tranche vesting on each subsequent anniversary 
thereafter. In January 2015, 80,000 units were awarded to the  
President and CEO. 

InnVest has set aside 350,000 units in reserve for Board compensation. 
At December 31, 2014, the balance in this reserve account is 152,745 
units (December 31, 2013 – 169,606). In September 2014, InnVest’s 
Trustees approved an increase of this reserve to 1% of InnVest’s 
outstanding units from time to time in connection with proposed 
changes to the Board compensation structure. InnVest’s redesigned 
compensation structure enhances unit-compensation, including 
minimum ownership requirements, further aligning our Board’s  
interests with those of our unitholders. The listing of up to an additional 
797,412 units for this purpose, which would increase the reserve 
account balance to 950,157 units, was conditionally approved  
by the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") in October 2014, subject to 
unitholder approval at the next annual general meeting and other 
customary conditions.

UNIT INFORMATION (cont.)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont.)

associated with the renovation activities underway during the year as 
well as one-time termination costs associated with asset divestitures. 
These are somewhat offset by reduced management fees and asset 
management fees following divestitures. These fees represent 
approximately 68% (2013 – 66%) of total hotel management and other 
fees paid by InnVest to the five hotel management companies with 
which it partners.

On November 26, 2014, Westmont participated in the private placement  
of units (refer to Unit Information). Westmont acquired 876,469 units at 
a cost of $4.6 million ($5.25 per unit). As at March 11, 2015, Westmont 
owned or exercised control over approximately 7.6% of the units of  
the REIT.

KINGSETT CAPITAL
On April 24, 2014, InnVest completed a credit agreement with KingSett  
(the “Credit Agreement”) for a $50.0 million subordinated term loan 
facility (the “Term Loan”). KingSett also provided an option to draw an 
additional $50.0 million subordinated non-revolving stand-by liquidity 
facility (the “Liquidity Facility”). The Liquidity Facility availability was 
undrawn and expired in December 2014. The Term Loan is outstanding 
for a four-year term, bears regular interest payments of 8.75% per 
annum (the “Term Interest Payments”) and is supported by a general 
security agreement. A trustee of the REIT has an indirect controlling 
interest in KingSett.

The Term Loan and Liquidity Facility were subject to an up-front fee  
of $3.0 million (the “Up-Front Fee”). 

In connection with the Credit Agreement, InnVest issued 573,361 units 
in satisfaction of the Up-Front Fee in April 2014. In addition, in the first 
year that the Term Loan is outstanding, a portion of the Term Interest 
Payments due in that year equal to 3% per annum will be payable in 
units at the option of KingSett. During the three subsequent years, the 
same portion of the Term Interest Payments will be payable in units if 
mutually agreed by KingSett and InnVest. Any units will be issued at a 
price equal to the five-day volume-weighted average price of the units 
on the TSX prior to the date of each issuance. In 2014, InnVest issued 
146,950 units in satisfaction of the Term Interest Payments.

On November 26, 2014, KingSett participated in the private placement 
of units (refer to Unit Information). KingSett acquired 5,520,000 units  
at a cost of $29.0 million ($5.25 per unit). As at March 11, 2015, 
KingSett owned or exercised control over approximately 15.8% of the 
units of the REIT.

On February 2, 2015, InnVest announced that it had acquired a 20% 
interest in the Royal York Hotel through an arrangement with KingSett 
Real Estate Growth LP No. 5 (“KingSett LP No. 5”) (a fund managed by 
KingSett), and Ivanhoé Cambridge (the “Partnership”).  KingSett LP  
No. 5, with its 60% interest, is the managing partner of the Partnership. 
InnVest is the hotel asset manager and will oversee the property’s 
hospitality operations.  Ivanhoé Cambridge retained a 20% interest in  
the property. As part of the Partnership, no fees will be paid between 
InnVest and KingSett LP No. 5 for the services provided by each.

•	 Effective April 1, 2014, Westmont’s base management fee has been 
reduced to 2.95% from 3.375% and a new incentive fee structure has 
been adopted that will allow Westmont to earn up to 3.80% of the 
gross revenue of managed hotels per year. 

	 –	 Westmont is entitled to an annual base incentive fee equal to 
0.425% of gross revenues, to be adjusted at the end of the year  
as follows:

		  >	 For each percentage point (1.0%) that the year-over-year net 
operating cash flow of the managed hotels increases, the base 
incentive fee will be increased by 2.8333 basis points, to a 
maximum incentive fee of 0.85%;

		  >	 For each percentage point (1.0%) that the year-over-year net 
operating cash flow of the managed hotels decreases, the base 
incentive fee will be reduced by 2.8333 basis points, to a 
minimum incentive fee of 0%; 

		  >	 Where there is less than one percentage point change (1.0%)  
in the year-over-year net operating cash flow of the managed 
hotels, the incentive fee will remain unchanged at 0.425%; and

		  >	 Hotels that are sold or acquired during the year and hotels  
that are subject to a disruption event (including being under 
significant renovation), earn the base incentive fee of 0.425%.

	 –	 From April 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014, Westmont earned 
approximately $41 of incremental incentive fees representing a 1% 
year-over-year increase in the net operating cash flow of managed 
hotels eligible for such fee.

In accordance with the hotel management agreement, in addition to the 
base management fee and incentive fee, Westmont is entitled to the 
following fees in respect of hotels that it manages: (i) purchasing fees 
based on 5% of the cost of certain goods and supplies; (ii) construction 
fees based on 5% of the cost of construction and capital expenditures; 
and (iii) per guest room fees for accounting services in respect of the 
hotel businesses. The amended and restated management agreement 
did not result in any changes to the basis for such additional fees. 

The amended and restated management agreement allows InnVest  
to request Westmont’s services in connection with construction work  
to be performed at hotels that it does not manage and for accounting 
services in respect of InnVest’s business on a case-by-case basis,  
as may be agreed to by both parties. Westmont is also entitled to be 
reimbursed for certain reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses 
incurred in the performance of its duties under the management 
agreement, provided that such costs have been identified in an 
approved budget or are otherwise approved in writing. Westmont also 
provides certain administrative and support services, including the 
provision of: (i) office space and office equipment; (ii) communications 
and computer systems; and (iii) such administrative and secretarial 
support services as reasonably required from time to time to support 
InnVest’s ongoing administration and operation. Such services are 
provided on a cost recovery basis pursuant to a budget. InnVest 
expects these administrative and support services to end in 2015 as  
it internalizes these services. 

Total management and other fees paid to Westmont during the year 
ended December 31, 2014 were $19.2 million (2013 – $19.3 million). 
Total fees paid in 2014 reflect the higher project management fees 
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InnVest’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS. Included in this MD&A are certain additional IFRS measures 
and non-IFRS measures, which are measures of InnVest’s historical or 
future financial performance that are not calculated and presented in 
accordance with IFRS. These measures are unlikely to be comparable  
to similar measures presented by other reporting issuers. InnVest  
uses these measures to better assess its underlying performance and 
provides these additional measures so that investors may do the same. 
The following discussion defines the measures used by InnVest and 
presents why management believes they are useful supplemental 
measures of InnVest’s performance.

ADDITIONAL IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

Gross Operating Profit (“GOP”)
GOP is defined as revenues less hotel and other real estate properties 
expenses. GOP reflects results of operations from InnVest’s two 
business segments: hotel ownership and other real estate assets.  
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, InnVest’s hotel 
ownership operations accounted for all of its GOP. 

Measures which reflect the cash flow generating ability of real estate 
assets are commonly used by real estate owners which, when 
considered with IFRS measures, give management a more complete 
understanding of property level results before debt service. It also 
facilitates comparisons between InnVest and its competitors. 
Management believes that GOP, specifically Hotel GOP, is one of 
InnVest’s key performance indicators since it helps management, 
lenders and investors evaluate its core business’ ongoing profitability. 

GOP is an additional IFRS financial measure derived from the 
consolidated financial statements but does not have a standardized 
meaning prescribed by IFRS. Therefore it is unlikely to be comparable 
to similar measures presented by other issuers. 

GOP has been calculated as follows:

				    2014	 2013

Revenues	 $	 535,535 	 $	 586,898 
Hotel and other real estate  
	 properties
Operating expenses	  	 346,566 		   381,883 
Property taxes, rent and insurance		   38,798 		   47,403 
Management fees		   21,350 	  	 23,474 

	  				    406,714 		   452,760 

Gross operating profit	 $	 128,821 	 $	 134,138

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

Funds from Operations (“FFO”)
FFO is a common measure of performance in the real estate investment 
trust industry. FFO is one measure used by industry analysts and 
investors in the determination of InnVest’s valuation, its ability to fund 
distributions and investors’ investment return requirements. As a result, 
InnVest believes that FFO is a useful supplemental measure of its 
operating performance for investors. FFO assumes that the value of  
real estate investments does not necessarily decrease on a systematic 
basis over time, an assumption inherent in our application of IFRS 
(given the depreciation charge) and it adjusts for items included in net 
income that do not necessarily provide the best indicator of operating 
performance, such as gains or losses on the sale of assets, provisions 
for impairment (and impairment reversals) of assets as well as changes 
in the fair value of certain equity-based financial instruments classified 
as financial liabilities. 

FFO should not be considered a substitute for net income or cash flow 
from operating activities determined in accordance with IFRS. 

InnVest presents FFO in accordance with Real Property Association of 
Canada’s (“REALpac”) White Paper on Funds From Operations revised 
in April 2014 except that InnVest excludes unusual items which are  
not in the normal course of business and are not expected to reoccur. 
InnVest’s method of calculating FFO may be different from that of  
other organizations. 

InnVest calculates FFO by using net income or loss and adjusting for: 

i)	 Depreciation, amortization and accretion, excluding amortization  
of deferred financing costs;

ii)	 Deferred income tax expense or recovery;
iii)	 Any gains or losses on the disposition of assets or the settlement  

of liabilities;
iv)	 Non-cash writedown of assets held for sale as well as the 

impairment provision (and impairment reversals) on assets; 
v)	 Non-cash effect of certain equity-based financial instruments 

classified as financial liabilities under IFRS (includes distributions 
included in corporate and administrative expense and changes  
to fair value each reporting period); 

vi)	 Transaction costs expensed as a result of the purchase of a property 
being accounted for as a business combination; and

vii)	Non-recurring costs that may impact cash flow. Items are 
considered non-recurring when a similar loss or gain is not 
reasonably likely to occur within the next two years and  
has not occurred during the prior two years.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES AND ADDITIONAL IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES
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A reconciliation of IFRS net loss to FFO is as follows:

				    2014	 2013

Net loss		 $	 (14,727)	  $	 (54,956)
Add (deduct)
	 Non-cash items:	
	 Depreciation and amortization		  81,149 	  	 82,534 
	 Deferred income taxes recovery		   – 	 	  (2,085)
	 Unrealized changes in the fair  
		  value of financial liabilities  
		  (including fair value changes  
		  in unit-based compensation)	  	 9,700 		   12,728 
	 Writedown of hotel and other 
		  real estate properties, net		  3,754 	  	 30,840 
	 Distributions included in corporate  
		  and administrative expense	  	 145 	  	 145 
	 Gain on sale on assets, net		  (18,774)		   (11,904)
	 Gain on redemption and 
		  amendment of convertible  
		  debentures	  	 (11,628)		   – 
	 Other items:
	 Acquisition cost		   4,324 		   – 		
	 Non-recurring items:		
	 Proxy defense and  
		  settlement costs	  	 3,594 		   – 
	 Actuarial loss on pension 
		  settlement		  1,414		  –
	 Litigation settlement (1)		  (500)		   – 
	 Lease surrender cost		  – 		   6,500 

Funds from operations (FFO)	 $	 58,451 	 $	 63,802 
FFO per unit		
	 – basic	  	 0.605 	 	  0.681 
	 – diluted		  0.574 		   0.624 
Weighted average unit outstanding		
	 – basic		  96,598,100 	 	  93,743,682 
	 – diluted		 119,721,189 	  126,618,948

(1)	 InnVest finalized a litigation settlement relating to one hotel during the second 
quarter of 2014.

Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”)
InnVest uses AFFO (previously referred herein as distributable income),  
as its measure of normalized cash flow in order to assess its ability to 
fund distributions for current or potential investors. 

AFFO is defined as FFO adjusted for: 

i)	 Non-cash deferred financing charges;
ii)	 The FF&E Reserve; and
iii)	 Any other adjustment determined by the Board in their discretion. 

A reconciliation of FFO to AFFO is as follows:

				    2014	 2013

FFO			   $	 58,451 	 $	 63,802 
Add (deduct)		
	 Non-cash portion of mortgage  
		  interest expense		   4,604 		   2,138 
	 Non-cash portion of convertible  
		  debentures interest & accretion		   3,864 	  	 4,817 
FF&E Reserve		   (22,568)	  	 (24,612)

Adjusted FFO	 $	 44,351 	 $	 46,145 
AFFO per unit		
	 – basic		  0.459		  0.492
	 – diluted		  0.441		  0.462
Weighted average unit outstanding		
	 – basic	  	 96,598,100 	 	  93,743,682 
	 – diluted	 	 119,721,189 	 	 117,243,948 

AFFO is also used by management and the Board to determine the level 
of distributions to unitholders and also serves as an important measure 
for investors in their evaluation of the performance of management. 

In addition, when evaluating acquisition opportunities, the AFFO to  
be generated by the asset is reviewed by management to determine 
whether a proposed acquisition is expected to generate an increase  
in AFFO per unit. Therefore, AFFO is an important measure for 
management as a guideline through which operating and financial 
decisions are made and is an integral part of the investment decision 
for investors and potential investors. There is no standard industry-
defined measure of AFFO. InnVest’s method of calculating AFFO may 
be different from that of other organizations.

Reconciliation of cash from operating activities to AFFO:

				    2014	 2013

Cash flow utilized in  
	 operating activities	 $	 60,191 	 $	 58,881 
Changes in non-cash working capital		   (8,271)		   2,916 
Joint venture income		   4,998 	 	  4,433 
Proxy defense and settlement cost		   3,594 		  – 
Acquisition costs		   4,324 		  – 
Lease surrender cost		  – 		   6,500 
Litigation settlement		  (500) 		   – 
Others, net		  2,583		   (1,973)
FF&E Reserve	 	  (22,568) 		  (24,612)

AFFO		  $	 44,351 	 $	 46,145

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES AND ADDITIONAL IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES (cont.)
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All real estate investments are subject to a degree of risk. The 
achievement of InnVest’s objectives is, in part, dependent on successful 
mitigation of business risks. The following is a discussion of some, but 
not all, of the risks which may materially affect InnVest’s performance 
and the value of its units. Readers should also refer to InnVest’s Annual 
Information Form, which is available on SEDAR, for a more detailed 
discussion of risks. 

HOTEL OWNERSHIP AND OPERATING RISKS
InnVest is subject to the normal operating risks inherent in hotel 
ownership. The following is a discussion of the key risks and 
uncertainties faced by InnVest on a day-to-day basis, and the strategies 
adopted to mitigate such risks. InnVest has risk management processes 
in place, as well as restrictions, limitations and policies placed upon  
it by its Declaration of Trust. However, it should not be assumed that 
the following discussion is exhaustive or that the strategies adopted  
to mitigate these risks will be effective. 

The hotel industry is cyclical and subject to significant fluctuations in 
performance and in asset valuations and, as a result, specific market 
conditions may result in reductions in the value of InnVest assets, 
temporarily or permanently. InnVest is subject to the operating risks 
inherent in the Canadian hotel industry, including: 

•	 cyclical downturns arising from changes in general and local 
economic conditions;

•	 changes in the level of business and commercial travel and tourism;
•	 increases in the supply of accommodations in local markets which 

may adversely affect the results of operations;
•	 competition from other hotels and its potential impact on  

pricing pressure;
•	 the recurring need for renovation, refurbishment and improvement  

of hotel properties;
•	 changes in wages, prices, energy costs and construction and 

maintenance costs that may result from inflation, government 
regulations, changes in interest rates or currency fluctuations;

•	 seasonal fluctuations in hotel operating income generated 
throughout the year;

•	 availability of financing for operating or capital requirements;
•	 increases in operating costs due to inflation which may not 

necessarily be offset by increased room rates;
•	 increases in expenses of travel, particularly automotive travel  

(which results in reduced overall travel and hotel stays); and
•	 other factors, including changes in cross-border movement of 

Americans to Canada, medical concerns related to travelling to 
Canada, acts of terrorism, natural disasters, extreme weather 
conditions and labour shortages, work stoppages or disputes.

InnVest mitigates these risks by having a geographically diverse 
portfolio of hotels, associated with recognized hotel brands. In  
addition, the portfolio benefits from a diverse customer mix including 
corporate, government, leisure, local, crew, sports and other groups, 

which limits its reliance on any one individual travel segment. At 
December 31, 2014, InnVest has a $40.0 million operating line and a 
$40.0 million bridge loan facility to ensure that the seasonal fluctuation 
in cash flow will not affect its ability to operate in the normal course  
of business. As with all debt financing, InnVest’s ability to renew its 
credit facilities on similar terms will be dependent on market conditions 
at the time and the underlying performance of the assets pledged as 
collateral for the facility.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid. There can be no assurance 
that InnVest will be able to dispose of an investment when it finds 
dispositions advantageous or necessary or that the sale price of any 
disposition will recoup or exceed the amount of InnVest’s investment. 
The ability of InnVest to vary its real estate portfolio in response to 
changes in economic and other conditions will be limited. If InnVest 
were required to liquidate its real property investments, the proceeds  
to it might be significantly less than the aggregate carrying value of  
its properties.

In January 2013, InnVest announced an intention, as part of its strategic 
plan, to divest its low-yielding non-core hotels and selectively invest  
in stable markets with long-term growth potential. Under the direction 
of the Board, a review of the entire portfolio was completed to help 
determine the optimal future strategy for InnVest. Additional hotels 
were identified as sale candidates. Although InnVest has exceeded its 
original divestiture objectives, there can be no assurance that InnVest 
will be able to dispose of remaining identified properties for the 
aggregate proceeds or within the timeframes contemplated, or that 
InnVest will generate an adequate return on investment in respect  
of its capital expenditures. 

InnVest is governed by a Declaration of Trust which is intended to 
mitigate risks through financial and operating management restrictions, 
limitations and policies such as: 

•	 Eligible investments are restricted primarily to hotels in Canada;
•	 There are limitations on investing in raw land for development  

and engaging in the development and construction of new real 
property (other than property adjacent to an existing owned hotel); 

•	 Individual property mortgages, or mortgages on a pool of properties, 
cannot exceed 75% of the value of the underlying property;

•	 Leverage is limited to 60% of gross asset value before convertible 
debentures and 75% including convertible debentures; 

•	 Units cannot be issued from treasury unless the Trustees consider  
it not to be dilutive to ensuing annual distributions of AFFO to 
existing unitholders;

•	 Related party transactions require the approval of two-thirds  
of the independent Trustees and any transfers of real property 
between related parties requires an independent appraisal; and 

•	 Any material change to the Master Hotel Management  
Agreement with Westmont requires two-thirds approval of  
the independent Trustees. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, FIXED COSTS AND  
INCREASED EXPENSES 
The failure to maintain stable or increasing average room rates 
combined with acceptable occupancy levels would likely have a material 
adverse effect on InnVest’s business, cash flows, financial condition and 
results of operations and ability to make distributions to unitholders. 
Certain significant expenditures, including property taxes, maintenance 
costs, mortgage payments, insurance costs and related charges, must 
be made throughout the period of ownership of real property regardless 
of whether a property is producing any income. If InnVest is unable to 
meet mortgage payments on any property, losses could be sustained as 
a result of the mortgagee’s exercise of its rights of foreclosure or sale. 

InnVest is also subject to utility and property tax risk relating to 
increased costs that InnVest may experience as a result of higher 
resource prices as well as its exposure to significant increases in 
property taxes. There is a risk that property taxes may be raised as a 
result of re-valuations of properties and their adherent tax rates. In 
some instances, enhancements to properties may result in significant 
increases in property assessments following a re-valuation. Additionally, 
utility expenses, mainly consisting of natural gas and electricity service 
charges, have been subject to considerable price fluctuations over  
the past several years. Any significant increase in these resource costs 
that InnVest cannot charge back to the guest may have a material 
adverse effect on InnVest’s business, cash flows, financial condition and 
results of operations and ability to make distributions to unitholders. 

The performance of the portfolio is partly dependent on its ability to 
attract guests and ability to understand and respond to changing guest 
demands and needs which may require capital investments by the 
owner. Furthermore, failure to invest in its portfolio, or possible variances 
in the planned amount and timing on capital expenditures may result in 
temporary and/or permanent loss of business and earnings. The timing 
and amount of capital expenditures by InnVest will affect the amount  
of cash available for distributions to unitholders. Distributions may be 
reduced, or even eliminated, at times when InnVest deems it necessary 
to make significant capital or other expenditures. 

ACQUISITION RISKS 
In addition to making investments to enhance returns and seeking 
operational efficiencies in the operation of the portfolio, InnVest may 
seek to increase cash flow and enhance value by acquiring additional 
hotel properties that meet its investment criteria and by applying its 
operating strategy to improve the financial performance of the 
subsequently acquired hotels. 

InnVest announced the acquisition of two full-service hotels in 2014. 
Acquisitions entail risks that investments will fail to perform in 
accordance with expectations and that judgments with respect to the 
costs of improvements to bring an acquired property up to appropriate 
standards will prove inaccurate, as well as general investment risks 
associated with any new real estate investment. In addition, deposits  
to vendors related to contemplated acquisitions by InnVest may  
not be refunded should InnVest fail to complete such purchases. 

Representations and warranties given by the vendors of hotel 
properties to the REIT may not adequately inform or protect the REIT 
against these risks, and any recourse against third parties may be 
limited. There can be no assurance as to the pace of growth through 
property acquisitions or that InnVest will be able to acquire assets  
on an accretive basis.

LIQUIDITY RISKS AND ACCESS TO CAPITAL
At December 31, 2014, InnVest has total potential liquidity of  
$121.3 million (including cash, restricted cash and availability under its 
operating line of credit, bridge loan and capital expenditure loan facility).

InnVest utilizes cash flow from operations and credit facilities to 
support operating requirements, to fund capital expenditures, to  
make acquisitions and to pay distributions to unitholders. In 2014, 
InnVest invested $76.9 million in capital expenditures which compares 
to its FF&E Reserve of $22.6 million. Incremental capital above the 
FF&E Reserve in 2014 was funded with cash generated through assets 
sales and cash on hand or available credit facilities. 

Given the payment of the majority of its AFFO in the form of 
distributions to unitholders (payout ratio of 88.4% in 2014), InnVest is 
required to fund capital improvements above the FF&E Reserve or the 
acquisitions of hotels principally by issuing additional units, incurring 
additional indebtedness or selling assets. Access to capital markets for 
additional unit financings and the availability of additional borrowing 
will depend on prevailing market conditions and the acceptability of  
the terms offered. 

InnVest is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including 
the risk that cash flow from operations will be insufficient to meet 
required payments of principal and interest, the risk that existing debt 
will not be refinanced or that terms of such refinancing will not be 
favourable to InnVest. Similarly, there can be no assurance that InnVest 
will be able to complete additional unit financings or borrow additional 
funds, on terms acceptable to it, or at all. If InnVest were unable to 
secure additional funding for acquisitions, refinancing or capital 
improvements, it would be required to curtail these activities, which 
could have a material adverse effect on its results of operations and 
financial condition. Were this to occur, the amount of monthly cash 
distributions could be negatively affected.

Furthermore, if InnVest were in need of capital, it could be required  
to liquidate one or more investments in hotel properties at times  
which may not permit the realization of the maximum return on such 
investments or could be required to agree to additional financing on 
unfavourable terms. InnVest attempts to mitigate these potential risks 
by developing relationships with its lenders, by seeking out new sources 
of capital and by staggering the maturities of its long-term debt. 

In 2014, InnVest has raised over $110.0 million of equity in the  
public market, successfully finalized new financings of $160.0 million 
(subordinated term loan, mortgages and bridge loan facility) and 
completed the sale of 19 hotels for gross proceeds of $126.4 million. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (cont.)
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In the interest of providing InnVest unitholders and potential investors 
with information regarding InnVest, certain statements contained in this 
MD&A constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
applicable securities laws. These statements include, but are not limited 
to, statements made concerning InnVest’s objectives, its strategies to 
achieve those objectives, assumptions and forecasts of future results 
from acquisitions and divestitures as well as other statements with 
respect to management’s beliefs, plans, estimates and intentions, and 
similar statements concerning anticipated future events, results, 
circumstances and performance or expectations that are not historical 
facts. Forward-looking information typically contains statements  
with words such as “outlook”, “objective”, “may”, “could” “continue”, 
“anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, “estimate”, “plan”, “intend”, “forecast”, 
“project” or similar expressions suggesting future outcomes or events. 
Such forward-looking statements reflect management’s current beliefs 
and are based on information currently available to management.

These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future events 
or performance and, by their nature, are based on InnVest’s estimates 
and assumptions, which are subject to risks and uncertainties,  
including those described under “Risks and uncertainties” in this MD&A. 
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements, as there can be no assurance that the plans, intentions  
or expectations upon which they are based will occur. By its nature, 
InnVest’s forward-looking information involves numerous assumptions, 
inherent risks and uncertainties, which may cause InnVest’s actual 
performance and financial results in future periods to differ materially 
from any estimates or projections of future performance or results 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors  
that could cause actual results, performance, or achievements to  
differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to, the status of InnVest as a  
real estate investment trust for Canadian federal income tax purposes  

in any year; achievement of plans to develop an optimal asset portfolio 
through completion of acquisitions, divestitures, and reinvestments 
within the timeframes necessary to generate the desired return on 
investment; maintain adequate liquidity; extent of realized benefits from 
the internalization of the asset management functions; ability to 
refinance debt maturities as planned; ability to achieve and maintain 
lower debt leverage target; ability to fund acquisitions at a capital cost 
and equity/debt mix as desired; lender concentration; general global 
credit market conditions including currency and interest rate 
fluctuations; general global economic and business conditions; variable 
regional economic conditions including dependence on manufacturing, 
oil or other resource market; the effects of competition and pricing 
pressures from multiple bidders for acquisitions, development and 
opening of new hotel properties; aggressive marketing, and service or 
product quality improvements by competitors; extent of industry 
overcapacity; changes in the level of cross-border travel by Americans 
to Canada and other possible shifts in market demands; adverse 
changes in laws and regulations, including environmental and taxation; 
potential increases in maintenance and operating costs; possible 
variances in the amount and timing of completion for planned capital  
or maintenance projects; and failure of planned capital projects to  
result in desired shift in business mix.

Although InnVest believes that the expectations represented by such 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no assurance 
that such expectations will be consistent with these forward-looking 
statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A 
are made as of the date of this MD&A. Except as required by law, 
InnVest does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise 
any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. All forward-looking statements contained  
in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.

44	 /	 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

INNVEST REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



(signed)	 (signed)

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)				    December 31, 2014	  December 31, 2013 

ASSETS		
Current assets		
	 Cash								       $	 56,404 	 $	 20,261 
	 Accounts receivable								         22,175 		   28,788 
	 Prepaid expenses and other assets								         7,734 		   8,915 
	 Finance lease receivable 								         2,078 		   6,413 
	 Assets held for sale (NOTE 3)								         14,924 	 	  58,658 

	  									         	 103,315 	 	  123,035 
Non-current assets		
	 Restricted cash (NOTE 4)								         2,236 		   6,760 
	 Investment in joint venture (NOTE 5)								         1,179 		   1,202 
	 Hotel properties (NOTE 7)								         1,210,143 		   1,135,503 
	 Other real estate properties (NOTE 8)								         1,918 		   1,964 
	 Intangible assets (NOTE 9)							       	  10,494 	 	  12,077 

Total assets							       $	 1,329,285 	 $	 1,280,541 

LIABILITIES		
Current Liabilities		
	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 							       $	 67,570 	 $	 71,989 
	 Distributions payable								         3,872 		   3,125 
	 Long-term debt (NOTE 11)								        231,731 	  	  91,079 
	 Convertible debentures (NOTE 12)							       	  – 	  	  69,369 
	 Other long-term obligations (NOTE 14)	  						      	 190 		   177 
	 Liabilities related to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)	 							       9,144 	  	 30,652 

										          	  312,507 	 	  266,391 
Non-current liabilities		
	 Long-term debt (NOTE 11)							       	  552,520 	  	  583,009 
	 Convertible debentures (NOTE 12)							       	 234,981 	  	  259,604 
	 Provisions (NOTE 13)	  							       9,359 		   7,073 
	 Other long-term obligations (NOTE 14)								         4,841 	  	 4,010 
	 Other liabilities (NOTE 16)	  						      	 13,086 	  	  18,997 

	  										           1,127,294 		   1,139,084 
UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY 							       	  201,991 	  	  141,457 

										          $	 1,329,285 	 $	 1,280,541 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Trustees:

Majid Mangalji	 Robert McFarlane 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees	 Chairman of the Audit Committee

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS	
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							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit amounts)			   	 December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Revenues (NOTE 30)							       $	 535,535 	 $	 586,898 
Hotel and other real estate properties		
	 Operating expenses (NOTE 24)								        346,566 	 	 381,883 
	 Property taxes, rent and insurance								        38,798 		  47,403 
	 Management fees (NOTE 24)								        21,350 	 	 23,474 

										          	 406,714 	 	 452,760 

Gross operating profit							       	 128,821 	 	 134,138 
Other expenses		
	 Corporate and administrative (NOTE 24)								        12,033		  5,147 
	 Interest expense		
		  Mortgages and other debt								        47,605 		  45,460 
		  Convertible debentures							       	 21,441 	 	 25,418 
	 Joint venture income (NOTE 5)								         (4,998)		   (4,433)
	 Other income and expense, net (NOTE 25)								         (26,938)		   (6,555)
	 Writedown of hotel and other real estate properties, net (NOTE 26)	  					     3,754 		  30,840 
	 Depreciation and amortization							       	 81,149 	 	 82,534 
	 Unrealized loss on liabilities presented at fair value (NOTE 27)							       9,502 		  12,768 

Loss before income tax recovery								         (14,727)		   (57,041)
Income tax recovery 								         – 		  2,085 

Net loss and comprehensive loss							       $	 (14,727)	 $	 (54,956)

Net loss per unit (NOTE 22)		
	 Basic	  					     	 $	 (0.152)	 $	 (0.586)

	 Diluted						      	 $	 (0.152)	 $	 (0.586)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars)			   Deficit	 Units in $	 Total

Balance December 31, 2012					     $	 (410,502)	 $	 643,320 	 $	 232,818 

Changes During the Year			 
Net loss and comprehensive loss						      (54,956)		   – 		   (54,956)
Distributions to unitholders						      (37,465)		   – 		   (37,465)
Distribution reinvestment plan units issued						       – 		   500 		   500 
Vested executive compensation						      – 		   399 		   399 
Trustee compensation						       – 		   161 		   161 

Balance December 31, 2013 					     $	 (502,923)	 $	 644,380 	 $	 141,457 

Changes During the Year			 
Net loss and comprehensive loss						      (14,727)		   – 		   (14,727)
Distributions to unitholders						      (39,222)	 	  – 		   (39,222)
Distribution reinvestment plan units issued						      – 	 	  3,224 		   3,224 
Vested executive compensation						      – 	 	  210 		   210 
Trustee compensation						      – 	 	  83 		   83 
Issue of new units, net						      – 	 	  110,966 		   110,966 

Balance December 31, 2014					     $	 (556,872)	 $	 758,863 	 $	 201,991 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.			 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)	
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							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)				    December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
Net loss								       $	 (14,727)	 $	 (54,956)
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash		
	 Depreciation and amortization							       	  81,149 		   82,534 
	 Gain on sale of assets, net (NOTE 25)								         (18,774)		   (11,904)
	 Gain on redemption and amendment of convertible debentures (NOTE 25)					     (11,628)		   – 
	 Writedown of hotel and other real estate properties, net (NOTE 26)						      3,754 	  	 30,840 
	 Unrealized loss on liabilities presented at fair value (NOTE 27)	  						      9,502 		   12,768 
	 Interest on mortgages and other debt							       	  47,605	  	 45,460 
	 Convertible debentures interest and accretion	  						      	 21,441 	  	 25,418 
	 Interest expense paid	  						      	 (61,697)	  	 (62,405)
	 Deferred income tax recovery								         – 		   (2,085)
	 Non-cash executive and trustee compensation							       	  293 		   560 
Share of net earnings from joint venture income (NOTE 5)							        (4,998)		   (4,433)
Changes in non-cash working capital (NOTE 23)							       	 8,271 	  	 (2,916)

Cash generated from operating activities							       	  60,191 	 	  58,881 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Repayment of long-term debt							       	  (113,437)		   (91,202)
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs							       134,546 	  	 17,081 
Issue of convertible debentures, net of issuance costs							       – 	 	  110,037 
Redemption and cancellation of convertible debentures							        (102,547)		   (74,980)
Distributions to unitholders								         (35,251)	 	  (36,956)
Issue of new units, net							       	  107,182 		   – 
Operating loan repayments								         – 	  	 (15,100)

Cash utilized in financing activities							       	 (9,507)		   (91,120)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Capital expenditures (NOTE 30)							       	  (76,932)		   (60,213)
Acquisition of hotel property (NOTE 6)								         (65,364)		   – 
Additions to intangible assets							       	  (129)	 	  (171)
Dividends received from investment in joint venture (NOTE 5)							        5,021 	 	  4,496 
Proceeds from sale of assets (NOTE 3)						      		   124,325 	 	  113,050 
Payment of costs associated with sale of assets (NOTE 3)							       (5,986)	  	 (13,107)
Decrease in restricted cash	  							       4,524 		   1,979 

Cash (utilized in) generated from investing activities								        (14,541)	 	  46,034 

Increase in cash during the year							       	  36,143 	  	 13,795 
Cash, beginning of the year							       	  20,261 	  	 6,466 

Cash, end of the year						      	 $	 56,404 	 $	 20,261 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014 (All Canadian dollar amounts are in thousands, except unit and per unit amounts)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

InnVest Real Estate Investment Trust (“InnVest” or the “REIT”) is an 
unincorporated open-ended real estate investment trust governed  
by the laws of Ontario. The REIT began operations on July 26, 2002.  
As at December 31, 2014, the REIT owned 110 Canadian hotels 
operated under international brands. 

The REIT leases its hotels to InnVest Hotels Trust (“IHT”), an indirectly-
owned unit trust. IHT indirectly holds all of the hotel operating assets, 
earns revenues from hotel customers and pays rent to the REIT. IHT 

(A)	STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

(B)	PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements 
of the REIT as well as the entities that are controlled by the REIT 
(subsidiaries). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts  
of the REIT and IHT and their subsidiaries, a joint venture, and a joint 
operation. Control is achieved when InnVest is exposed, or has rights,  
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the REIT. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. Inter-company transactions, balances and other 
transactions between consolidated entities are eliminated.

The joint venture is IHT’s 50% interest in CHC and is accounted for  
using the equity method. The joint operation is a co-tenancy that owns 
one of the REIT’s hotels. InnVest accounts for the joint operation by 
recognizing its proportionate share of jointly controlled assets, liabilities,  
revenues and expenses. 

(C)	BUSINESS COMBINATION
At the time of acquisition of a property, InnVest considers whether the 
acquisition represents the acquisition of a business. InnVest accounts 
for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of 
activities is acquired in addition to the property. The cost of a business 
combination is measured as the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred at the acquisition date fair value. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date. 
InnVest recognizes any contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the REIT at its acquisition date fair value. Goodwill is initially measured 
at cost, being the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of  
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed in the period incurred. 

also indirectly holds a 50% interest in Choice Hotels Canada Inc. 
(“CHC”). At December 31, 2014, InnVest wholly-owns an indirect 
interest in the entities that carry on the business of operating hotels. 

Units of InnVest trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”)  
under the symbol INN.UN.

InnVest’s registered office is at 5090 Explorer Drive, Suite 700, 
Mississauga, Ontario L4W 4T9.

When the acquisition of a subsidiary does not represent a business, it is 
accounted for as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The 
cost of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired 
based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill is recognized. 

InnVest has determined that all acquisitions made during the periods 
presented were acquisitions of a business. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by  
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, 
InnVest reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted for 
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ 
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts 
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, 
would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.

(D)	JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
InnVest accounts for its investment in joint ventures using the equity 
method and accounts for investments in joint operations by recognizing 
InnVest’s direct rights to assets, obligations for liabilities, revenues  
and expenses. The joint venture is IHT’s 50% interest in CHC and is 
accounted for using the equity method. The joint operation is a 
co-tenancy that owns one of the REIT’s hotels. InnVest accounts for  
the joint operation by recognizing its proportionate share of jointly 
controlled assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Under the equity 
method, the investment in the joint venture is carried on the balance 
sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in InnVest's share of the  
net assets of the joint venture, less distributions received and less  
any impairment in the value of the investment. The REIT’s income 
statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the joint 
venture after tax.

(E)	COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
InnVest recognizes comprehensive income which represents changes in 
the unitholders’ equity during a period arising from transactions and 
other events with non-owner sources. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

(F)	ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Assets held for sale are presented in current assets at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less the costs to sell. Assets are not 
depreciated from the time when they are classified as “held for sale”. 
The liabilities related to these assets are reclassified to current liabilities 
once the assets are classified as held for sale. A held-for-sale asset is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to 
terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and its  
sale must be highly probable. For the sale to be highly probable 
management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset and an 
active effort to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been 
initiated. Further, the asset must be actively marketed for sale at a price 
that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In addition, the 
sale should be expected to be consummated within one year from the 
date of classification as held-for-sale. A disposal group of the REIT will 
generally represent a group of properties of a certain type and/or 
geographical area of operations.

(G)	HOTEL PROPERTIES
Hotel properties, consisting of land, buildings and furniture, fixtures  
and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  
Hotel properties are reviewed periodically for impairment as described 
in Note 2 (j). 

(H)	OTHER REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES
Other real estate properties include a retail property as well as a 
retirement residence. The other real estate properties include land, 
buildings and furniture, fixtures and equipment. The buildings and 
furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and are reviewed periodically for impairment as  
described in Note 2 (j).

(I)	 DEPRECIATION 
Depreciation for Hotel properties and Other real estate properties is 
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life: 

Buildings	 40 years
Leaseholds	 lesser of the lease term and 40 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	 7 years
Building finishes	 0–15 years
Electrical and mechanical	 30 years 

(J)	 IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
Management reviews long-lived assets on a quarterly basis for 
impairment triggers to determine if any events or changes in 
circumstances exist that would indicate that the carrying amount of  
an asset may not be recoverable over time. Impairment assessments 
are conducted at the level of cash generating units (“CGUs”), with  
each hotel or other real estate property representing a separate CGU.  
If the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the 
asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount  
is the greater of (i) fair value less costs to sell and (ii) value in use.  

Value in use is assessed based on estimated future cash flows discounted  
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. Impairments are reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, if no impairment had been recognized. 

(K)	INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets include licence contracts related to the joint  
venture interest in CHC, and are recorded at the value attributed to  
the discounted cash flow of the expected earnings stream under  
the contract terms at the time of acquisition of CHC. This amount is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average life or expected 
renewal life of the contracts, which is estimated to be twenty years.

Intangible assets also include franchise rights with various brands, 
which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of  
the agreement.

(L)	 PROVISIONS 
Provisions are recognized on the balance sheet when InnVest has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,  
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required and 
a reliable estimate of the amount payable can be made. If the effect is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. InnVest recognizes decommissioning and restoration provisions 
related to various environmental obligations for certain properties 
where the quantum of such costs and the timing for settlement are 
reasonably determinable. The obligations relate to the eventual removal 
of asbestos, underground storage tanks and polychlorinated biphenyls 
(“PCBs”) and eventual remediation of land contamination. InnVest has 
recorded a provision and corresponding asset (capitalized in buildings) 
for the estimated future decommissioning and restoration costs, 
discounted to present value. Such estimates are subject to revisions 
based on changes in laws and regulations or changes in inputs to  
the decommissioning model.

(M)	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the 
financial instrument has been classified as fair value through profit  
or loss (“FVTPL”), available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and 
receivables, or other liabilities. Subsequent measurement for financial 
assets and liabilities is based on either fair value or amortized cost 
using the effective interest method (“EIM”), depending upon their 
classification. Any financial asset or financial liability can be classified  
at FVTPL as long as the fair value is reliably determinable.
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Transaction costs, other than those related to financial instruments 
measured at fair value (expensed as incurred), are added to the fair 
value of the financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition  
and amortized using the EIM.

Other liabilities consist of the fair value of InnVest’s exchangeable  
units, the fair value of the conversion feature associated with InnVest’s 
convertible debentures, the fair value of the unvested executive 
compensation, and the fair value of deferred units awarded to trustees 
which are further defined below and in Note 2 (q) and (r).

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or contracts are 
separated from their host contracts and are measured at fair value,  
with changes therein recognized in the consolidated statement of net 
loss and comprehensive loss. InnVest has concluded that its convertible 
debentures include embedded derivatives under IFRS. InnVest has 
separated the conversion option component for each of its series of 
convertible debentures and measures such component at fair value  
at each reporting date.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
In certain circumstances, however, the initial fair value may be  
based on other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument, without modification, or on a valuation technique using 
market based inputs. Except as noted below, the carrying value of 
InnVest’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair 
values because of the short period until receipt or payment of cash.  
The fair values of long-term debt are based on the current market 
conditions for mortgages with similar terms and conditions. The fair 
value of the convertible debentures is based on the market prices  
for the convertible debentures at each reporting date.

The following summarizes the classification and measurement InnVest has elected to apply to each of its significant categories of financial instruments:

				    Classification	 Measurement

Financial assets
	 Cash and restricted cash	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost
	 Accounts receivable	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost 
	 Finance lease receivable	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost
Financial liabilities
	 Bank indebtedness	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost
	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost
	 Operating line and bridge loan	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost
	 Mortgages payable	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost 
	 Subordinated term loan	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost 
	 Convertible debentures – host instrument	 Other liabilities	 Amortized cost
	 Exchangeable units	 FVTPL	 Fair value
	 Convertible debentures – holders’ conversion option	 FVTPL	 Fair value
	 Unvested executive compensation liability	 FVTPL	 Fair value
	 Deferred units	 FVTPL	 Fair value

In accordance with IAS 17, “Leases”, leases are classified as finance 
leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as 
receivables at the amount of the net investment in the leases. Finance 
lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the net investment outstanding in 
respect of the leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially 
recognized as assets at their fair value at the inception of the lease or,  
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet are 
categorized using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
inputs used in determining the fair values:

(i)		 Level 1 – �quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
financial assets or liabilities that InnVest has the ability to 
access at the measurement date;

(ii)	 Level 2 – �inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the financial asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e.: as prices) or indirectly (i.e.: derived 
from prices); and

(iii)	 Level 3 – �inputs for the financial asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

are computed using enacted or substantively enacted income tax rates 
for the years in which deferred tax balances are expected to reverse.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and InnVest intends to settle its current assets  
and liabilities on a net basis. 

(Q)	DEFERRED UNIT PLAN
InnVest’s trustees participate in a compensation plan involving the 
grant of deferred units (“Deferred Units”). Deferred Units result in  
the award of units on a one-for-one basis upon the trustee’s departure 
from the Board. Deferred Units granted entitle the holder to also 
accumulate Deferred Units equal to the cash distributions, assuming  
the reinvestment of the distribution into units. 

The benefit resulting from the grant of Deferred Units under this plan is 
recorded under ‘Corporate and administrative expense’ when awarded. 
Deferred Units granted are initially presented in ‘Other liabilities’ based 
on the fair value of the units on the date of grant and are subsequently 
measured at each reporting date at their fair value with changes in the 
carrying amount recognized as ‘Corporate and administrative’ expense 
in for the period. 

Upon issuance of units (following a trustee’s departure from the Board), 
the liability is reclassified to ‘Unitholders’ equity’ at the then current  
fair value.

(R)	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
The senior executives participate in an incentive plan that involves the 
grant of units which typically vest over time. A unit granted entitles  
the holder to receive, on the vesting date, the then current fair market 
value of the unit plus the value of the cash distributions that would 
have been paid on the unit if it had been issued on the date of grant, 
assuming the reinvestment of the distribution into units. The payment 
will be satisfied through the issuance of units. 

The benefit resulting from the issuance of units under this plan is 
recorded as compensation expense, on a straight-line basis over the 
relevant vesting period. Units granted (based on vesting schedule 
accrual) are initially presented in ‘Other liabilities’ based on the fair value 
of the units on the date of grant and are subsequently measured at 
each reporting date at their fair value with changes in the carrying 
amount recognized as ‘Corporate and administrative’ expense for the 
period. Upon issuance of units (following the satisfaction of all vesting 
conditions), the liability is reclassified to ‘Unitholders equity’ at the  
then current fair value.

(N)	�DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS AND OTHER 
EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

InnVest maintains defined benefit pension plans for the benefit of 
management employees of certain hotels acquired in 2006 and 2007. 

The benefit obligation for retired members, beneficiaries and terminated 
vested members is calculated as the actuarial present value of their 
respective benefits. With respect to active members, the benefit 
obligation and the service cost are calculated using the projected unit 
credit method (prorated on service) using actuarial assumptions, which 
include management’s best estimate of salary escalation and retirement 
ages of employees.

InnVest is also responsible to provide retirement allowances to certain 
unionized employees at a limited number of its hotels. Liabilities are 
recorded for employee retirement allowance benefits using actuarial 
valuations based on actuarial assumptions which include management’s 
best estimate of future salary levels, employee eligibility, retirement 
ages of employees, and length of service.

(O)	REVENUE RECOGNITION

Hotel Revenue
Revenues from hotel operations are recognized when services are 
provided and ultimate collection is reasonably assured.

Loyalty Programs
Hotel loyalty programs administered by various third party brands enable 
customers to earn points to be redeemed for free accommodation or 
other benefits. InnVest acts as an agent for these third party programs.  
In accordance with IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes, the cost  
of loyalty program points are recorded as a reduction in revenues at the 
time of sale to the customer.

For hotel loyalty programs awarded by CHC, a portion of the revenue 
received relating to the issuance of loyalty points is deferred until the 
awards are ultimately redeemed. The allocation of the consideration to 
the award is based on an evaluation of the award’s estimated fair value 
at the date of the transaction using the residual fair value method.

Retail and Retirement Residence Revenue
InnVest retains all the risks and benefits of ownership of its other real 
estate properties and therefore accounts for leases with its tenants as 
operating leases. Rental revenue from retail and retirement residence 
leases includes all amounts earned from tenants related to lease 
agreements and revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis.

(P)	DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 
For InnVest’s taxable subsidiary entities, income taxes are accounted 
for using the liability method, whereby deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on differences between the carrying 
amount of the balance sheet items and their corresponding tax values 
as well as unused tax losses and tax credits. Deferred income taxes  
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valuation parameters. Management considers various factors in its 
assessment including the historical performance of hotel properties, 
expected trends in each specific market including new or expected  
new hotel supply as well as local and macroeconomic conditions.

Determination of Useful Lives of Hotel Property Components
Management determines the estimated useful lives and related 
depreciation charge for each hotel property component. InnVest 
depreciates these assets using the straight-line method over their 
estimated economic or useful lives. The selected depreciation method 
and estimates of useful life impact the level of depreciation expense 
recognized in InnVest’s operating results. In establishing useful lives, 
management considers its capital maintenance plans and consults  
with third party and internal construction experts. 

Valuation of Financial Instruments and Liabilities
Management makes estimates and assumptions relating to the fair 
value measurement of its Exchangeable units, unit executive incentive 
plans, Deferred Units, the convertible debenture conversion feature  
and the fair value of mortgages payable. The critical assumptions and 
estimates underlying the fair value measurements and disclosures 
include current market interest rates and credit spreads reflected in 
comparable financial instruments and InnVest’s own credit risk.

In determining the fair value of mortgages, management uses internally 
developed models to discount future payments based upon a current 
market rate for debt instruments with similar terms and risks. The 
selection of the applicable market rate is based on management 
experience in obtaining similar financing as well as current credit market 
conditions. Changing credit market conditions, including movements  
in interest rates and credit spreads, may impact underlying estimates 
and, in turn, the fair value of debt instruments. 

The fair value of Exchangeable units, unit executive incentive plans and 
Deferred Units use quoted market prices based on the price of InnVest’s 
units. The fair value of InnVest’s convertible debentures use quoted 
market prices based on the price of each series of debentures. The fair 
value of the convertible debenture conversion feature is derived based 
on the volatility of InnVest units’ quoted market price, market interest 
rates as well as management’s judgment relating to interest rate 
spreads for instruments of similar terms and risks.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Other Employment Benefits
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment 
benefits is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial  
valuation involves making assumptions about expected plan investment 
performance, salary escalation, the retirement ages of employees, 
employee eligibility, length of service and expected health care costs  
as at the date of the actuarial valuation. Changes in estimates about 
plan investment performance, as impacted by current market 
conditions, may impact future pension costs. 

(S)	 EXCHANGEABLE UNITS
InnVest has Exchangeable units, exchangeable into InnVest units on  
a one-for-one basis. The Exchangeable units largely have the same 
features as InnVest’s units but their features are not identical. The 
Exchangeable units are classified as ‘Other liabilities’. The distributions 
on the Exchangeable units are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of net loss and comprehensive loss as finance costs under 
IFRS. The Exchangeable units are measured at each reporting date  
at their fair value, based on the market price of InnVest units, with 
changes in the carrying amount recognized in net loss for the period. 

(T)	� SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, 
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of InnVest’s financial statements requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Significant Accounting Judgments
Identification of Impairment Indicators
Management is required to test for impairment when there is an 
indicator of impairment whereby the carrying value of a property may 
not be recoverable. Management has established a methodology for 
identifying indicators of impairment which includes looking at changes 
in net operating performance, revenue levels and other factors on a 
property-by-property basis. The identification of impairment indicators 
will affect whether management will test for the impairment of a 
property at each reporting date. 

Degree of Componentization of Hotel Property
Each component of a hotel property with a cost that is significant in 
relation to the total cost of the hotel property must be depreciated 
separately. Upon conversion to IFRS, management undertook a process 
to (i) identify hotel property components, (ii) allocate the deemed  
cost of the hotel property to each component and (iii) determine the 
appropriate depreciation period for each component. A similar process 
is undertaken for acquisitions to the portfolio. The identification, 
allocation and depreciation period chosen for each component of hotel 
properties affects the depreciation expense in each accounting period. 

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
Impairment
Impairment testing of hotel properties requires management to assess 
the property’s ability to recover its book value through the normal 
course of operations and evaluate the value-in-use of the property. 
Significant assumptions are used in the assessment of fair value and 
impairment including estimates of future operating cash flows, the  
time period over which they will occur, an appropriate discount rate, 
appropriate growth rates (revenues and costs) and changes in market 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)

(V)	FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 includes the requirements for recognition and 
measurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge accounting.  
IFRS 9 is mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. InnVest is currently 
evaluating the impact to the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
The objective of the amendments is to add new guidance to IFRS 11 on 
accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation in which 
the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business, as defined in 
IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”. Acquirers of such interests are to 
apply the relevant principles on business combination accounting in 
IFRS 3 and other standards, as well as disclosing the relevant 
information specified in these standards for business combinations. 
These amendments to IFRS 11 are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016. InnVest is currently evaluating 
the impact to the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued its new revenue standard, IFRS 15, 
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. IFRS 15 specifies how and 
when revenue should be recognized as well as requiring more 
informative and relevant disclosures. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 18, 
“Revenue Recognition”, IAS 11, “Construction Contracts” and a number 
of revenue-related interpretations. Application of the standard is 
mandatory and it applies to nearly all contracts with customers, the 
main exceptions are leases, financial instruments and insurance 
contracts. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 
2017. InnVest is currently evaluating the impact to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(U)	�APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED  
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Effective January 1, 2014, InnVest has applied the following new and 
revised IFRSs in these audited consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 32 –  
Financial Instruments Presentation
The amendments provide additional guidance on the presentation  
of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments 
present application guidance on the legal right to offset financial  
assets and liabilities and management’s intent to settle on a net basis. 
The adoption of the amendments to IAS 32 did not have an impact  
on InnVest’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets
The amendments require the disclosure of the recoverable amount  
of impaired assets when an impairment loss has been recognized  
or reversed during the period and additional disclosures about the 
measurement of the recoverable amount of impaired assets when  
the recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal, 
including the discount rate when a present value technique is used  
to measure the recoverable amount. The adoption of this standard 
included additional disclosure.

IFRIC 21 – Levies
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the 
activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, 
occurs. The adoption of IFRIC 21 did not have a significant impact on 
InnVest’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Assets held for sale at December 31, 2014 include two hotels (December 31, 2013 – 15 hotels). All assets and liabilities relating to these hotel 
properties have been classified to current assets and current liabilities and are outlined in the table below:

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Assets			 
	 Accounts receivable							       $	 355 	 $	 1,522 
	 Prepaid expenses and other assets								         138 	 	  416 
	 Hotel properties (net of accumulated depreciation of $4,438; 2013 – $17,649) (NOTE 7)				    14,431 	  	 56,656 
	 Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of	 nil; 2013 – $190) (NOTE 9)	  				    – 	 	  64 

Total assets						      	 $	 14,924 	 $	 58,658 

Liabilities			 
	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities						      	 $	 591 	 $	 3,310 
	 Long-term debt (NOTE 11)	  							       8,553 	 	  27,165 
	 Employee retiring allowance (NOTE 14)								        – 		   177 

Total liabilities							       $	 9,144 	 $	 30,652 

IMPAIRMENT REVIEW DURING THE YEAR
Each reporting period, InnVest carries out a review of the fair value  
less costs to sell for its assets held for sale. During the year ended 
December 31, 2014, no impairment loss was recognized on the two 
assets held for sale (2013 – $6,350 related to six hotel properties held 
for sale). The prior year impairment loss was included in ‘Writedown of 
hotel and other real estate properties, net’ (Note 26), in the 
consolidated statements of net loss  and comprehensive loss.

SALE OF ASSETS 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest sold nineteen 
hotels classified as ‘Assets held for sale’ for aggregate net proceeds 
after closing costs of $118,339. InnVest repaid $18,218 of mortgages 
relating to these assets resulting in net cash proceeds of $100,121 
(2013 – InnVest sold seven hotels for net proceeds after closing costs  
of $99,943 and the repayment of $71,507 of mortgages). InnVest 
recorded a corresponding net gain on sale of $18,774 (2013 – $11,904), 
which was included in ‘Other income and expense, net’ (Note 25) in  
the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest recorded a reversal 
of a previous impairment of $3,496 (2013 – $4,810) relating to seven 
assets (six sold and one based on revised estimated fair value less cost 
to sell), which has been included in ‘Writedown of hotel properties and 
other real estate properties, net’ (Note 26), in the consolidated 
statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. 

The sale of these properties, which have been approved by the Board  
of Trustees, are highly probable and are expected to close within a year 
of their classification as held for sale. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest transferred  
four hotels previously classified as ‘Held for sale’ to ‘Hotel properties’ 
since they no longer met the criteria for presentation as held for  
sale. This change in presentation resulted in an adjustment to 
depreciation expense of $2,367, reflecting depreciation which would 
have been recognized had the asset not been classified as held for  
sale. This adjustment has been included in the line item ‘Depreciation 
and amortization’ in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.

The land amount at December 31, 2014 included in hotel properties 
held for sale is $1,717 (December 31, 2013 – $9,854). 

The operations of these hotels are not presented as discontinued 
operations on the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive 
loss as they do not represent a separate geographical area of operations 
or a separate major line of business. 
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The restricted cash of $2,236 (December 31, 2013 – $6,760) is being held by InnVest to undertake capital refurbishments in accordance with 
certain mortgage and franchise agreements.

4. RESTRICTED CASH

The following table summarizes the movement of InnVest’s joint venture investment:

								        Investment in  
								        Joint Venture

Opening balance, January 1, 2013 	  								        $	 1,265 
Add:	
	 InnVest’s 50% share of CHC’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2013							        4,433 
Less:	
	 Dividends received										           (4,496)

Closing balance, December 31, 2013 	  								        $	 1,202 

Add:	
	 InnVest’s 50% share of CHC’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2014							        4,998 
Less:	
	 Dividends received										           (5,021)

Closing balance, December 31, 2014								        	 $	 1,179 

Summarized financial information below represents amounts presented in CHC’s financial statements, as adjusted to comply with IFRS.

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Current assets							       $	 14,668 	 $	 12,794 
Non-current assets							       	  309 	 	  185 
Current liabilities								         12,618 		   10,575 
The current assets above include the following:			 
	 Cash									         5,569 	  	 3,769 
	 Restricted cash								         4,112 		   5,662 
Revenues							       	  28,446 		   25,749 
Net income and total comprehensive income from CHC							       9,995 		   8,866 
Dividends declared and royalties paid								         (10,041)		   (8,992)
The above net income for the year includes the following:			 
	 Depreciation and amortization							       	  184 	 	  155 
	 Interest income								         – 		   (23)
	 Income tax expense							       	  1,370 		   1,195 

Interest in the joint venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements:			 
	 Net assets of CHC		   					     $	 2,359 	 $	 2,404 
	 InnVest’s ownership interest in CHC								        50%		  50%

Carrying amount of CHC							       $	 1,179 	 $	 1,202 

InnVest holds a 50% interest in the ownership of CHC, a separate legal 
entity. CHC’s registered office is at 5090 Explorer Drive, Suite 500, 
Mississauga, Ontario L4W 4T9. InnVest’s investment in CHC is classified 

as a joint venture. InnVest accounts for its investment in CHC using the 
equity method. The transfer of unrestricted funds from CHC is approved 
by the joint venture partners. 

5. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
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On December 8, 2014, InnVest acquired a 100% interest in the  
Hyatt Regency Vancouver hotel located in Vancouver, British Columbia. 
The net purchase price before closing cost and working capital 
adjustments was $139,000 (which included a $1,000 credit from the 
seller). The purchase price was funded by a new mortgage loan of 
$70,000 (refer to Note 11), with the remaining portion of the purchase 
price, net of working capital adjustments, settled in cash. 

The results of operations of the hotel since the date of acquisition  
have been included in the consolidated statement of net loss and 
comprehensive loss. The Hyatt Regency Vancouver hotel contributed 
revenue of $2,324 and a net loss of $178 from the date of acquisition. 
Had the Hyatt Regency Vancouver hotel been consolidated from 
January 1, 2014, the consolidated statement of net loss would have 
included revenue of $50,660 (unaudited) and net income of  
$4,042 (unaudited).

InnVest incurred acquisition related costs of $4,324, which have been 
expensed in ‘Other income and expense, net’ in the consolidated 
statements of net loss and comprehensive loss. The transaction was 
accounted for as a business combination under IFRS 3.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the fair value to each 
major asset acquired and liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date 
as well as the consideration paid and may be adjusted in future periods. 

The fair values are provisional due to the complexity of the valuation 
process. As a result further adjustments may be made to the allocation 
of value between each of the assets and liabilities acquired.

Land and building (NOTE 7)			   $	 99,654 
Building finishes (NOTE 7)				     21,758 
Electrical and mechanical (NOTE 7)			   	  9,860 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (NOTE 7)	  		  7,728 

Identifiable assets acquired		   		  139,000 
Working capital adjustments (net)				     (4,186)

Net assets acquired	  		  $	 134,814 

Cash consideration	  		  $	 65,364 
Proceeds from mortgage loan 
	 (net of financing costs) (NOTE 11)			    	 69,450 

						      $	 134,814 

6. ACQUISITION 

				    Land,			   Furniture,		
				    Building and	 Building	 Electrical	 Fixtures and		
	  			   Leaseholds	 Finishes	 and Mechanical	 Equipment	 Total

Cost 					  
Opening balance at January 1, 2014	 $	 831,647 	 $	 295,421 	 $	 202,140 	 $	 99,940 	 $	 1,429,148 
Derecognition of assets		   – 		   – 		   – 		   (6,840)		  (6,840)
Acquisition (NOTE 6)		   99,654 		   21,758 		   9,860 		   7,728 		   139,000 
Additions		   4,408 		   48,298 		   5,497 		   18,695 		   76,898 
Fair value of decommissioning  
	 and restoration provision (NOTE 13)		   2,313 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   2,313 
Write-down of asset to  
	 recoverable amount (NOTE 26)		  (4,158)		   (1,060)		   (1,754)		   (278)		  (7,250)
Reclass from assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		   10,491		   6,697		   8,880 		   2,180		  28,248
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		  (61,630) 		   (23,087)		   (17,912)		   (8,266)		  (110,895)

Balance at December 31, 2014	 	 882,725 		   348,027		   206,711		   113,159 		   1,550,622 

Accumulated depreciation					   
Opening balance at January 1, 2014		   74,256 		   140,824 		   26,863 		   51,702 		   293,645 
Derecognition of assets	 	  – 		   – 		   – 		   (6,840)		  (6,840)
Depreciation		   17,856 		   40,562 		   6,956 		   13,934 		   79,308 
Reclass from assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		   1,342 		   3,431 		   1,099 	  	 1,213 		  7,085
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		   (10,394) 		   (13,769)	  	 (3,579)	  	 (4,977)		  (32,719)

Balance at December 31, 2014		   83,060 		   171,048 		   31,339 		   55,032 		   340,479 

Carrying value, December 31, 2014	 $	 799,665 	 $	 176,979 	 $	 175,372 	 $	 58,127 	 $	 1,210,143

7. HOTEL PROPERTIES
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7. HOTEL PROPERTIES (cont.)

				    Land,			   Furniture,		   
				    Building and	 Building	 Electrical	 Fixtures and			    
				    Leaseholds	 Finishes	 and Mechanical	 Equipment	 Total

Cost 					  
Opening balance at January 1, 2013	 $	 894,454 	 $	 289,163 	 $	 223,410 	 $	 103,299 	 $	 1,510,326 
Derecognition of assets	 	  – 		   – 		   – 		   (12,302)		   (12,302)
Additions		   4,147 		   34,311 		   4,301 		   17,437 		   60,196 
Fair value of decommissioning  
	 and restoration provision (NOTE 13)		   (2,276)		   – 		   – 		   – 		   (2,276)
Writedown of assets to  
	 recoverable amount (NOTE 26)	  	 (16,634)		   (3,223)		   (3,537)		   (1,406)		  (24,800)
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		   (48,044)		   (24,830)		   (22,034)		   (7,088)		  (101,996)

Balance at December 31, 2013	 	  831,647 	  	 295,421 		   202,140 		   99,940 		   1,429,148 

Accumulated depreciation					   
Opening balance at January 1, 2013	 	  58,801 		   113,860 		   22,068 		   53,278 		   248,007 
Derecognition of assets		   – 		   – 		   – 		   (12,302)		   (12,302)
Depreciation		   19,406 		   39,119 		   7,404 		   14,670 		   80,599 
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)		   (3,951)		   (12,155)		   (2,609)		   (3,944)		  (22,659)

Balance at December 31, 2013		   74,256 		   140,824 		   26,863 		   51,702 		   293,645 

Carrying value, December 31, 2013	 $	 757,391 	 $	 154,597 	 $	 175,277 	 $	 48,238 	 $	 1,135,503

The depreciation expense has been included in the line item 
‘Depreciation and amortization’ in the consolidated statements of  
net loss and comprehensive loss.

The land amount included in land, building and leaseholds is $160,902 
at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 – $138,613). During the 
year, land totalling $28,000 was acquired (Note 6). This amount is not 
depreciated. Hotel properties at December 31, 2014 include $3,145 
relating to leased assets (December 31, 2013 – $7,343).

IMPAIRMENT REVIEW DURING THE YEAR
Each reporting period, InnVest performs a review for indicators of 
impairment in respect of its hotel properties. If an impairment indicator 
is identified, InnVest determines the recoverable amount of the 
individual hotel property as the higher of value-in-use and fair value 
less costs to sell. Value-in-use is based on a discounted cash flow 
approach whereas fair value less costs to sell is determined giving 
consideration to comparable sales transactions and price per room 
metrics. The discount rate used in measuring value-in-use is based  
on market conditions per individual hotel property and ranged  
from 9.0% to 11% during the year ended December 31, 2014 (2013 – 
ranged from 9.75% to 10.5%). 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest’s review led to  
the recognition of an impairment loss of $7,250 relating to five  
hotels ($3,100 Ontario, $2,000 Atlantic and $2,150 Quebec region)  
(2013 – $24,800 relating to twelve hotels). The impairment loss has 
been included in ‘Writedown of hotel and other real estate properties, 
net’ (Note 26), in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss. The impairment was triggered by changes in  
local market conditions including reduced cash flow projections and 
revised sale expectations for two hotels. The recoverable amount  
was based on the value-in-use for two of the hotels by using a discount 
rate of 10.5% and the fair value less costs to sell was used for the  
other hotel. Fair value was based on minimum price per room metrics 
for the market as well as cash flow and capital investment projections 
for the hotel (Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy).

SALE OF ASSETS 
In the prior year, InnVest recorded costs of $6,500 resulting from the 
early surrender of a leasehold interest at one hotel and is reflected as 
‘Other income and expense, net’ in the consolidated statements of  
net loss and comprehensive loss. 
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8. OTHER REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES

Other real estate properties include a retail property and a retirement 
residence. The land amount included in land and building is $121  
at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 – $121). This amount is  
not depreciated. 
							       Furniture, 			   
						      Land and	 Fixtures and		   
						      Building	 Equipment	 Total

Cost 			
Opening balance at January 1, 2014					     $	 2,497 	 $	 77 	 $	 2,574 
Additions						       32 		   – 		   32 

Balance at December 31, 2014						       2,529 		   77 		   2,606 

Accumulated depreciation			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2014				    		   573 		   37 		   610 
Depreciation				    		   68 		   10 		   78 

Balance at December 31, 2014						       641 		   47 		   688 

Carrying value, December 31, 2014					     $	 1,888 	 $	 30 	 $	 1,918 

							       Furniture, 			   
						      Land and	 Fixtures and		   
						      Building	 Equipment	 Total

Cost 			
Opening balance at January 1, 2013					     $	 6,981 	 $	 76 	 $	 7,057 
Writedown of assets to recoverable amount						       (4,500)		   – 	  	 (4,500)
Additions						       16 		   1 		   17 

Balance at December 31, 2013					     	  2,497 		   77 		   2,574 

Accumulated depreciation			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2013						       376 		   26 		   402 
Depreciation						       197 		   11 		   208 

Balance at December 31, 2013						       573 		   37 		   610 

Carrying value, December 31, 2013					     $	 1,924 	 $	 40 	 $	 1,964

The depreciation expense has been included in the line item ‘Depreciation and amortization’ in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.

As described in Note 7, a similar impairment review was performed on 
other real estate properties. No impairment was recognized for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 (2013 – $4,500). 

						      Licence Contracts	 Franchise Rights	 Total

Cost			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2014					     $	 26,320 	 $	 2,320 	 $	 28,640 
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)						       – 		   (212)		   (212)
Reclass from assets held for sale (NOTE 3)					     	 –		   255 		   255 
Additions						       – 		   129 		   129 

Balance at December 31, 2014	  				    	 26,320 		   2,492 		   28,812 

Accumulated amortization			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2014						       15,047 		   1,516 		   16,563 
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)					     	  – 		   (199)		   (199)
Reclass from assets held for sale (NOTE 3)					     	 –		   191 		   191 
Amortization					     	  1,316 		   447 		   1,763 

Balance at December 31, 2014					     	  16,363 		   1,955 		   18,318 

Carrying value, December 31, 2014					     $	 9,957 	 $	 537 	 $	 10,494 

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont.)

10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS

On May 23, 2014, InnVest obtained a bridge facility of up to $40,000 
with a major banking institution which expires May 31, 2015. As at 
December 31, 2014, the bridge facility is secured by four properties 
(reduced from six hotels originally following the sale of one hotel and 
the removal of a second hotel which was pledged against a separate 
facility). The amount of the bridge facility is subject to a mortgageability 
test which is based on the operating results of the secured properties, 

calculated quarterly on a trailing four quarters basis. Based on the 
operating results of the secured properties for the four quarters ended 
December 31, 2014, InnVest had the ability to draw up to $24,547.  
The amount drawn on the bridge facility as at December 31, 2014 was 
$nil. The bridge facility bears interest at either the Canadian bank prime 
rate plus 1.5% or the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus 2.5%.

						      Licence Contracts	 Franchise Rights	 Total

Cost			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2013					     $	 26,320 	 $	 2,498 	 $	 28,818 
Derecognition of assets						       – 		   (95)		   (95)
Additions						       – 		   171 		   171 
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)						       – 		   (254)	  	 (254)

Balance at December 31, 2013						       26,320 		   2,320 		   28,640 

Accumulated amortization			 
Opening balance at January 1, 2013						       13,731 		   1,392 		   15,123 
Derecognition of assets						       – 		   (95)		   (95)
Amortization						       1,316 		   409 		   1,725 
Reclass to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)						       – 		   (190)		   (190)

Balance at December 31, 2013						       15,047 		   1,516 		   16,563 

Carrying value, December 31, 2013					     $	 11,273 	 $	 804 	 $	 12,077 

The amortization expense has been included in the line item ‘Depreciation and amortization’ in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.

11. LONG-TERM DEBT
						      	 December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Mortgages payable						      	 $	 749,363 	 $	 705,666 
Subordinated term loan							       	  50,000 		   – 
Bridge loan								         2,000 		   2,750 

		   								        	 801,363 	 	  708,416 
Reclass to liabilities related to assets held for sale (NOTE 3)							        (8,553)	 	  (27,165)

										          	  792,810 	 	  681,251 
Less debt issuance costs								         (8,559)		   (7,163)

Total long-term debt							       	  784,251 	 	  674,088 
Less current portion							       	  (231,731)	 	  (91,079)

Net long-term debt							       $	 552,520 	 $	 583,009 

Substantially all of InnVest’s assets have been pledged as security  
under debt agreements. At December 31, 2014, long-term debt  
had a weighted average interest rate of 5.5% (December 31, 2013 – 
5.8%) and a weighted average effective interest rate of 5.9%  

(December 31, 2013 – 6.2%). The long-term debt is repayable in 
average monthly payments of principal and interest totalling $5,098 
(December 31, 2013 – $4,955) and matures at various dates from  
March 30, 2015 to January 1, 2024.
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MORTGAGES PAYABLE
On January 7, 2014, InnVest completed the refinancing of the Sheraton 
Eau Claire, Calgary for $68,000 at a fixed interest rate of 5.33% for a 
10-year term. Incremental proceeds of $36,378 from the refinancing 
were used to partially repay a $45,398 mortgage that matured in  
April 2014 of which $3,591 related to ‘Assets held for sale’. 

As part of existing mortgage payable, InnVest has access to a loan 
facility for up to $30,000 to fund 65% of capital expenditures incurred  
at certain of its hotels. At December 31, 2014, InnVest had remaining 
capacity on the facility of $8,386 (December 31, 2013 - $26,686).

During the fourth quarter of 2014, InnVest obtained a mortgage loan  
of $70,000 to finance the purchase of the Hyatt Regency Vancouver 
hotel (refer to Note 6) bearing interest at the Canadian Bankers’ 
Acceptance rate plus 2.5% for a three-year term plus two one-year 
renewal options. 

During the fourth quarter of 2013, InnVest refinanced $183,756 of  
debt for a 67-month term (plus two one-year extension options).  
The mortgage is currently secured by 30 properties with a weighted 
average interest rate of 6.0% until May 2014 and approximately 5.1% 
thereafter and approximately $73,720 of fixed rate debt was exchanged 
to floating rate debt. 

SUBORDINATED TERM LOAN AND LIQUIDITY LOAN
In April 2014, InnVest closed a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) 
with KingSett Capital (“KingSett”) for a $50,000 subordinated term loan 
facility (the “Term Loan”). KingSett also provided an option to draw an 
additional $50,000 subordinated non-revolving stand-by liquidity facility 
(the “Liquidity Facility”). The Liquidity Facility was undrawn and expired 
in December 2014. The Term Loan is outstanding for a four-year term, 
bears regular interest payments of 8.75% per annum (the “Term Interest 
Payments”) and is supported by a general security agreement.

The Term Loan and Liquidity Facility were subject to an up-front fee of 
$3,000 (the “Up-Front Fee”).

In connection with the Credit Agreement, InnVest issued 573,361 units 
in satisfaction of the Up-Front Fee in April 2014. In addition, in the first 
year that the Term Loan is outstanding, a portion of the Term Interest 
Payments due in that year equal to 3% per annum will be payable in 
units at the option of KingSett. During the three subsequent years, the 
same portion of the Term Interest Payments will be payable in units if 
mutually agreed upon by KingSett and InnVest. In 2014, InnVest issued 
146,950 units in satisfaction of the Term Interest Payments.

BRIDGE LOAN
InnVest has a bridge loan secured by one property. As at December 31, 
2014, the bridge loan amount was $2,000 (2013 – $2,750). In early 2015, 
InnVest extended the bridge loan to February 29, 2016. The bridge loan 
requires quarterly principal payments of $250 starting June 1, 2015 and 
bears interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate plus 4.0%.

OPERATING LINE
InnVest has an operating line of credit of up to $40,000 with a Canadian 
chartered bank which expires August 31, 2016. At December 31, 2014, 
the operating line is secured by nine properties (2013 – 13 properties). 
The amount of the operating line is subject to a mortgageability  
test which is based on the operating results of the secured properties, 
calculated quarterly on a trailing four quarters basis. Based on the 
operating results of the secured properties for the year ended December,  
2014, InnVest had the ability to draw up to $37,945. The amount drawn 
on the operating line as at December 31, 2014 was $nil (December 31, 
2013 – $nil). The operating line bears interest at either the Canadian 
bank prime rate plus 2.0% or the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate 
plus 3.0%.

11. LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.)

Scheduled repayments of long-term debt are as follows: 

						      Regular Amortization	 Due on Maturity	 Total

2015	  						      $	 13,152 	 $	 218,579 	 $	  231,731 
2016	  							       11,197 		   45,495 		   56,692 
2017								         8,179 		   231,567 		   239,746 
2018	  							       5,863 		   55,256 		   61,119 
2019								         3,220 		   138,587 		  141,807  
2020 and thereafter						       5,720 		   55,995 		   61,715 

								        $	 47,331 	 $	 745,479 	 $	 792,810  

The estimated fair value of InnVest’s long-term debt at December 31, 
2014 was approximately $817,791 (December 31, 2013 – $716,050). 
This estimate was determined by discounting expected cash flows at 
interest rates that reflect current market conditions for debt with similar 
terms, maturities and credit risk.

Long-term debt includes $170,013 (December 31, 2013 – $28,489) 
which is subject to floating interest rates. Annual interest expense  
will increase by $1,700 for every 1% increase in the base Bankers’ 
Acceptance rate. Interest expense on long-term debt and convertible 
debentures are considered operating items in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows.
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12. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

The convertible debentures outstanding as at December 31, 2014 are as follows:
										          Outstanding	 Outstanding 
							       Interest Rate		  	 Principal	 Principal
						      Coupon	 Including	 Effective	 Conversion	 December 31,	 December 31,
Debenture		  Face Amount	 Maturity Date	  Interest Rate	 Issuance Costs	 Interest Rate(1)	 Strike Price	  2014	 2013

Series C 	 $	  70,000 	 August 1, 2014		  5.85%		  6.66%		  7.42%	 $	 14.70 	 $	  – 	 $	  70,000 
Series D(2)	  50,000 	 March 31, 2016		  6.75%		  7.64%		  9.41%	 $	 5.70 	  	 36,358 		   36,358 
Series E	 	 75,000 	 September 30, 2017		  6.00%		  6.79%		  7.75%	 $	 8.00 	  	 75,000 		   75,000 
Series F	 	 50,000 	 March 30, 2018		  5.75%		  6.57%		  7.40%	 $	 9.45 		   50,000 		   50,000 
Series G	 	 86,250 	 March 31, 2019		  6.25%		  6.25%		  8.25%	 $	 7.50 	  	 86,250 		   115,000 

Total convertible debentures											           $	 247,608 	 $	 346,358 

(1)	 Includes issuance costs and conversion option allocation.									       
(2)	 On January 28, 2015, InnVest announced the early redemption of its Series D Convertible Debentures (see Note 31).		

The net proceeds received from the issuance of each convertible 
debenture have been split between a financial liability element and the 
conversion option component, representing the value attributable to 
the option to convert the financial liability into units of InnVest. InnVest 
has separated the conversion option component for each of its series  

of convertible debentures and measures such component at fair value 
at each reporting date. The conversion option feature of the convertible 
debentures is recorded as a liability under ‘Other liabilities’ in the 
consolidated balance sheets and is measured at fair value (see Note 16).

						     	

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Convertible debentures							       $	 247,608 	 $	 346,358 
Financing costs and accretion, net	  							       2,602 		   (1,580)
Less allocation of conversion option value 								         (15,229)	 	  (15,805)

											            234,981 		   328,973 
Less current portion								         –		   (69,369)

Convertible debentures – non-current							       $	 234,981 	 $	 259,604

The fair value of InnVest’s convertible debentures, estimated based  
on the market price for each series of convertible debentures as at 
December 31, 2014, is $253,667 (December 31, 2013 – $332,474).

REDEMPTIONS
On June 3, 2014, the $70,000 Series C 5.85% convertible debentures, 
with a maturity date of August 1, 2014 were redeemed and cancelled 
resulting in a loss of $182 included in ‘Other income and expenses,  
net’ (Note 25). 

On July 31, 2014, $28,750 of Series G 5.75% convertible debentures, 
with a maturity date of March 31, 2019 were redeemed at a purchase 
price of $1,080 for each $1,000 in principal amount and cancelled 
resulting in a gain of $1,227 included in ‘Other income and expenses, 
net’ (Note 25). On July 31, 2014, the fair value of the conversion option 
relating to the Series G convertible debentures redeemed was $5,673. 

Refer to Note 31 for redemptions subsequent to the end of the year.

AMENDMENTS
On July 31, 2014, the remaining $86,250 Series G 5.75% convertible 
debentures, with a maturity date of March 31, 2019 were amended to 
increase the rate of coupon interest payable per annum from 5.75%  
to 6.25% effective on September 30, 2014. In addition, the conversion 

price for each InnVest unit to be issued upon the conversion of one 
Series G Debenture was increased from $5.80 to $7.50 per unit.  
These amendments were considered a significant modification of the 
convertible debenture which resulted in a gain of $10,583 that has been 
included in ‘Other income and expenses, net’ (Note 25). On July 31, 
2014, the fair value of the conversion option immediately before the 
amendment was $17,020. 

The scheduled convertible debentures maturities are as follows:

					     Due on Maturity

2015					     $	  – 
2016	  					     36,358 
2017	  					     75,000 
2018						       50,000 
2019						       86,250 

	  					     $	 247,608 
Financing costs and allocation  
	 of conversion option value				     (12,627)

						      $	 234,981 

64	 /	 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INNVEST REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



13. PROVISIONS

14. OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Opening balance, beginning of year	  					     $	 7,073 	 $	 9,349 
Increase (decrease) to ‘Hotel properties’:		
	 Other						       	 (27)		   – 
	 Effect of changes in the discount rate (NOTE 7)						       2,313 		   (2,276)

Ending balance, end of year						      $	 9,359 	 $	 7,073

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Finance lease							       $	 821 	 $	 992 
Other lease obligations								         262 	 	  281 
Employee retiring allowance								         1,271 		   1,187 
Employee benefit plans (NOTE 15)								         2,677 		   1,904 

Total other long-term obligations							       $	 5,031 	 $	 4,364 
Reclass to assets held for sale (employee retiring allowance) (NOTE 3)						       – 	 	  (177)
Less current portion								         (190)		  (177)

Other long-term obligations – non-current							       $	 4,841 	 $	 4,010

The entire provision of $9,359 relates to InnVest’s decommissioning and 
restoration obligation. The provision for decommissioning and restoration 
relates to the estimated future cost of environmental obligations for 
certain properties. InnVest intends to settle the obligations at the end of 
the expected useful life of the hotel properties. At December 31, 2014, 
the liability has been discounted at a rate of 2.33% based on the Bank of 

Canada long-term bond yields (December 31, 2013 – 3.2%). Upon the 
initial recognition of the liability, the decommissioning and restoration 
obligation was capitalized to buildings and is being amortized over the 
remaining useful life. The effects of the change of the discount rate are 
capitalized to buildings and amortized over the remaining useful life.

InnVest has one finance lease relating to one Ontario hotel with a lease 
term through 2018. InnVest has the option to purchase the hotel at a 
discounted amount at the conclusion of the lease. The fair value of the 
lease liability is approximately equal to its carrying amount.

InnVest has defined benefit pension plans which are for specific employees of four hotels and are closed plans. The most recent actuarial valuation 
with respect to the funding of InnVest’s pension plans was prepared on December 31, 2012.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Discount rate								        3.25%		  4.50%
Expected return on plan assets								        n/a	 	 n/a
Expected rate of salary increases								        n/a		  n/a

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended December 31, 2014 
was a gain of $129 (2013 – gain of $606). 

The benefit obligation for retired members, beneficiaries and 
terminated vested members was calculated as the actuarial present 
value of their respective benefits. 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS AND  
OTHER EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
InnVest is responsible to provide employee retirement allowances  
to certain unionized employees at a limited number of its hotels (see 
Note 15). Liabilities are recorded for employee retirement allowance 
benefits using actuarial valuations. 
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15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (cont.)

The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets in respect of the employee benefit plans are as follows:

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Accrued benefit obligation							       $	 3,269 	 $	 6,899 
Fair value of plan assets							       	  903 		   5,943 

Funded status – plan deficit							       	 2,366 	 	  956 
Liability arising from minimum funding requirement								        49 		   – 
Asset not recognized due to asset ceiling							       	  262 	 	  948 

Accrued employee future benefit liability							       $	 2,677 	 $	 1,904 

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation		
Opening defined benefit obligation							       $	 6,899 	 $	 7,844 
Current service cost								         12 	 	  180 
Interest cost							       	  284 	 	  319 
Contributions from plan participants								         2 	 	  23 
Actuarial losses (gains)								         1,465 	 	  (904)
Benefits paid							       	  (145)	 	  (281)
Curtailment								         – 	 	  (282)
Settlements								         (5,248)		   – 

Closing defined benefit obligation							       $	 3,269 	 $	 6,899 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets		
Opening fair value of plan assets							       $	 5,943 	 $	 4,773 
Interest income on plan assets						      		   278 	 	  198 
Return on plan assets greater than discount rate							       	  (51)	 	  701 
Contributions from employer							       	  219 	 	  687 
Contributions from plan participants								         2 		   23 
Benefits paid							       	  (145)		   (281)
Actual non-investment expenses							       	  (206)		   (158)
Settlements								         (5,248)		  –
Other	 								        	 111 		   – 

Closing fair value of plan assets						      	 $	 903 	 $	 5,943 

During the year, InnVest completed the wind-up for two of its defined 
benefit pension plans which resulted in a settlement of $5,248. For the 
remaining two hotels, the plans have no remaining active members as  
a result of the wind-up effective February 15, 2012. The defined benefit 
obligation as at December 31, 2014 is calculated on a wind-up basis 

and was calculated using the present value of accrued benefits.  
Under this method the obligations are calculated as the present value  
of benefits based on service to the valuation date. There is no future 
service cost for these plans as at December 31, 2014 and 2013. 

remaining solvency special payments established as at December 31, 
2014. As all the plans were wound up as of December 31, 2013,  
the economic benefit is calculated as any wind-up expense that can be 
paid from the plan plus any surplus that can be recovered from the plan. 
Past service costs are recognized immediately in defined benefit cost.

Since the sum of the accounting surplus as at December 31, 2014  
and the Minimum Funding Requirement (“MFR”) for past service for  
the plans are greater than the economic benefit that can be realized  
by InnVest, there is an additional liability as at December 31, 2014  
for these plans. The MFR is calculated as the present value of the 

66	 /	 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INNVEST REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST



15. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (cont.)

The pension expense recognized in ‘Operating expenses’, in the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss in respect of the 
employee benefit plans, are as follows:
							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Current service costs							       $	 12 	 $	 180 
Interest on obligation	 							        284 	 	  319 
Interest income on plan assets	 							        (278)	 	 (198)
Administrative costs	 							        206 	 	  158 
Curtailment gain								         – 		   (282)
Actuarial losses (gains)								        (353)		  (783)

Net amount in operating expenses						      $	 (129) 	 $	 (606)

16. OTHER LIABILITIES
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Exchangeable units							       $	 2,170 	 $	 1,695 
Convertible debentures holders’ conversion option (NOTE 20)							        9,931 		   17,227 
Deferred Units								         774 		   – 
Unvested executive compensation								         211 		   75 

Other liabilities							       $	 13,086 	 $	 18,997

multiplied by 2 (InnVest matches the Trustee’s election). The number  
of Deferred Units granted is based on the five-day weighted average 
price of units on the day preceding the award date. Deferred Units 
granted entitle the holder to also accumulate Deferred Units equal to 
the monthly cash distributions, assuming the reinvestment of the 
distribution into units. 

The number of Deferred Units granted result in the award of units on  
a one-for-one basis upon the trustee’s departure from the Board. 

As described in Note 2(q), the benefit resulting from the grant of 
Deferred Units under this plan is recorded as trustee expense when 
awarded. Deferred Units granted are initially presented in ‘Other 
liabilities’ based on the fair value of the units on the date of grant and 
are subsequently remeasured at each reporting date at their fair value 
with changes in the carrying amount recognized in ‘Corporate and 
administrative expenses’ in the consolidated statement of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.

Upon issuance of units (following a trustee’s departure from the Board), 
the liability is reclassified to equity at the then current fair value.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
The senior executives participate in an incentive plan that involves the 
grant of InnVest units which vest over time. Upon vesting, the payment 
will be satisfied through the issuance of units. Unvested units are 
presented at their fair value. Upon issuance of units (following the 
satisfaction of all vesting conditions), the liability is reclassified to 
‘Unitholders’ equity’ at the then current fair value based on the market 
price of the REIT’s units. 

EXCHANGEABLE UNITS	
As part of an acquisition made in 2005, InnVest granted 362,869 
exchangeable units (“Exchangeable units”) to a third party. The 
Exchangeable units receive a monthly cash payment equal to the value 
of the cash distributions that would have been paid on the InnVest  
units if they had been issued on the date of grant. The Exchangeable 
units are exchangeable into InnVest units with three business days of 
prior written notice to InnVest or on August 2, 2015. The Exchangeable 
units are presented as liabilities at their fair value based on the market 
price of InnVest units. During the year ended December 31, 2014, 
distributions totalling $145 (2013 – $145) were paid on the Exchangeable  
units and are included in ‘Corporate and administrative’ expenses in  
the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss.

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE HOLDERS’  
CONVERSION OPTION
InnVest has separated the conversion option component for  
each of its series of convertible debentures which are presented as 
‘Other liabilities’. InnVest measures the conversion option component  
at fair value at each reporting date which is derived based on the 
volatility of InnVest units’ market price, market interest rates as well  
as management’s judgment relating to interest rate spreads for 
instruments of similar terms and risks. 

DEFERRED UNIT PLAN
InnVest’s trustees participate in a compensation plan involving the 
grant of Deferred Units. The plan entitles trustees, at their option, to 
receive up to 100% of their trustee fees in the form of Deferred Units. 
The value of Deferred Units granted is equal to the trustee’s election 
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17. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

under the terms of the DOT. InnVest is permitted to hold indebtedness 
excluding convertible debentures up to a level of 60% of gross asset  
value. Further, InnVest is permitted to have indebtedness and convertible 
debentures up to a level of 75% of gross asset value. Indebtedness is 
computed as of the last day of each financial period excluding any 
indebtedness under any operating line, non-interest bearing indebtedness,  
trade accounts payable and, for greater certainty, deferred income tax 
liability. InnVest is further limited by an operating line covenant which 
limits total indebtedness including convertible debentures up to 70% of 
gross asset value. Management’s policy is not to exceed this leverage  
limit at any time during the year. Under the terms of the DOT, individual 
property mortgages (or mortgages on a pool of properties) cannot 
exceed 75% of the fair value of the underlying property. 

InnVest manages its capital, which is defined as the aggregate of 
unitholders’ equity and debt, under the terms of the Declarations of  
Trust (the “DOT”). InnVest’s capital management objectives are (i) to 
ensure compliance with debt and investment restrictions outlined in  
its DOT as well as external existing debt covenants, (ii) to allow for  
the implementation of its disposition strategy and hotel property 
refurbishment program, and (iii) to build long-term unitholder value. 
Issuances of equity and debt are approved by the Board of Trustees 
through their review and approval of InnVest’s annual business plan, along  
with periodic changes to the approved plans throughout each year. 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest’s primary contractual obligations 
consisted of long-term mortgage obligations and convertible debentures. 
InnVest is not permitted to exceed certain financial leverage amounts 

At December 31, 2014, InnVest’s leverage excluding and including convertible debentures was 47.4% and 62.0%, respectively, calculated as follows: 

						      December 31, 2014		  December 31, 2013

Total assets per consolidated balance sheet					     $	 1,329,285 			   $	 1,280,541 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization					     	  363,923 			   	  328,657 

Gross asset value					     $	 1,693,208 			   $	 1,609,198 

Book value of long-term debt and bridge facility (NOTES 10, 11)(1) 	 $	 801,363 		  47.4%	 $	 708,416		  44.0%
Convertible debentures (NOTE 12)(2)			   	  247,608 		  14.6%	  	  346,358 		  21.5%

Total indebtedness			   $	 1,048,971 		  62.0%	 $	 1,054,774 		  65.5%

(1)	 Adjusted to eliminate financing issuance costs.				  
(2)	 Adjusted to face value.				     

or A-1 (Mid) by Standard & Poor’s Corporation maturing prior to 
one year from the date of issue; and

(c)	� Investments in mortgages or mortgage bonds, where the related 
security is a first mortgage on income producing real property 
which otherwise complies with (a) above and is subject to certain 
leverage limits and debt service coverage. The aggregate value of 
such investments shall not exceed 20% of the unitholders’ equity. 

(d)	� Investments other than those summarized in (a) through (c)  
are limited to 15% of InnVest’s Unitholders’ equity plus 
accumulated depreciation.

InnVest is in compliance with these guidelines. 

The DOT also includes guidelines that limit capital expended to, among 
other items, the following:

(a)	� Direct and indirect investments in real property on which hotels 
are situated and the hotel business conducted thereon, primarily  
in Canada, and in entities whose activities consist primarily of 
franchising hotels;

(b)	� Temporary investments held in cash, deposits with a Canadian 
chartered bank or trust company, short-term government debt 
securities or in money market instruments of, or guaranteed by,  
a Schedule 1 Canadian bank, short-term commercial paper,  
notes, bonds of other debt securities of a Canadian entity having  
a rating of at least R-1 (Mid) by Dominion Bond Rating Service  

InnVest maintains an operating line with a Canadian chartered bank with the following covenants:

					     Threshold	 December 31, 2014	 Capacity(1)	 December 31, 2013

	 (i)	Total indebtedness (including convertible debentures)  
		  as a percentage of gross assets					     < 70%	 	 62.0%	 $	 136,275		  65.50%
	(ii)	Trailing 12 months consolidated earnings before interest, taxes,  
		 depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) to consolidated  
		  interest expense(2)					     > 1.8 x		  2.0 x	 $	 14,703		  2.1 x
	(iii) 	Trailing 12 months consolidated EBITDA to consolidated  
		 debt service(3) 					     > 1.5 x		  1.6 x	 $	 6,261		  1.6 x
	(iv)	Unitholders’ equity plus accumulated depreciation  
		  less ‘Intangible assets’			   >	$	 300,000	 $	 555,421	 $	 255,421	 $	 457,973

(1)	 Reflects additional capacity (for debt, EBITDA or unitholders’ equity, as applicable) before exceeding the covenant threshold at December 31, 2014.
(2)	 Consolidated interest expense excludes the non-cash portion of mortgage interest expense and the non-cash portion of convertible debenture interest and accretion.
(3)	 Consolidated debt service includes consolidated interest expense plus regular principal payments of $18,003.
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amount it could be required to pay to counter parties. No amount has 
been recorded in the financial statements with respect to these 
indemnification agreements.

INDEMNIFICATION OF UNDERWRITERS
InnVest has entered into agreements that provide for indemnification  
in underwriting agreements. These indemnifications generally require 
InnVest to indemnify the underwriters for costs incurred as a result of 
losses from litigation that may be suffered by the underwriters arising 
from transactions with InnVest. These types of indemnifications normally 
extend over an unspecified period of time and do not provide for any  
limit on the maximum potential amount. No amount has been recorded  
in the financial statements with respect to these indemnifications.

The sources of deferred income tax balances are as follows:

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Deferred income tax liability (asset)		
	 Hotel properties							       $	 160 	 $	 922 
	 Non-capital losses								        (160)	 	  (922)

	  		  							       $	 – 	 $	 – 

Significant guarantees provided by InnVest to third parties are as follows:

TRUSTEE AND OFFICER  
INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS
InnVest has entered into indemnification agreements with its trustees 
and officers to indemnify them, to the extent permitted by law, against 
any and all charges, costs, expenses, amounts paid in settlement  
and damages incurred by the trustees and officers as a result of any 
lawsuit or any other judicial or administrative proceeding in which  
the trustees and officers are sued as a result of their service. These 
indemnification claims will be subject to any statutory or other legal 
limitation period. InnVest has purchased trustees’ and officers’ liability 
insurance. The nature of the indemnification agreements prevents 
InnVest from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential 

18. INCOME TAXES AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

19. GUARANTEES

The REIT has subsidiaries that are corporations for which deferred tax 
liabilities have been measured using the corporate tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the year the temporary differences are expected 
to reverse.

The REIT has approximately $286,000 (2013 – $343,000) of taxable 
temporary differences and approximately $88,000 (2013 – $82,000) of 
deductible temporary differences and tax losses for which no deferred 

tax liability or asset has been recognized due to the flow-through 
nature of the entities or because it is not probable that the benefit will 
be realized. Entities within the REIT have incurred non-capital losses of 
$29,000 (2013 – $30,000) which expire in the years 2030 to 2033.

The combined tax rate is determined using the substantively enacted 
tax rates by jurisdiction as at each reporting period.

A reconciliation of the income taxes computed at the Canadian statutory tax rate of 26.7% (2013 – 26.7%) to the effective tax rate is as follows:

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Loss before income tax recovery	  						      $	 (14,727)	 $	 (57,041)

Income tax based on a combined federal and provincial tax rate 	 					     $	 (3,932)	 $	 (15,230)
Tax effect of loss not recognized								         4,002 		   13,243 
Other	 									         (70)		   (98)

Income tax recovery 							       $	 – 	 $	 (2,085) 
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

fluctuations. As at December 31, 2014, InnVest’s floating rate debt 
balance of $170,013 (December 31, 2013 – $28,489) is approximately 
21.2% (December 31, 2013 – 4.0%) of total long-term debt, excluding 
convertible debentures.

Credit Risk
Credit risk relates to the possibility that hotel guests, either individual or 
corporate, do not pay the amounts owed to InnVest. InnVest mitigates 
this risk by limiting its exposure to customers allowed to pay by invoice 
after check out (“direct bill”). InnVest reviews accounts receivable 
regularly and the allowance for doubtful accounts is adjusted for any 
balances which are determined by management to be uncollectible. 
This provision adjustment is expensed in operating expenses.  

RISK MANAGEMENT
In the normal course of business, InnVest is exposed to a number of 
risks that can affect its operating performance. These risks, and the 
actions taken to manage them, include the following:

Interest Rate Risk
The average term to maturity of InnVest’s aggregate long-term debt 
and convertible debentures is approximately three years. This strategy 
reduces InnVest’s exposure to re-pricing risk resulting from short-term 
interest rate fluctuations in any one year. Management believes that 
such a strategy will provide the most effective interest rate risk 
management for debt. InnVest’s floating rate debt balance is monitored 
by management to manage InnVest’s exposure to interest rate 

lenders will not refinance maturing debt on terms and conditions 
acceptable to InnVest, or on any terms at all. There is also a risk that 
bank lenders will not refinance the operating and bridge loan facilities 
on terms and conditions acceptable to InnVest, or on any terms at all.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility of not having sufficient cash 
available to InnVest to fund its growth and capital maintenance 
programs and refinance its obligations as they arise. There is a risk that 

The following summarizes accounts receivable related balances:

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Accounts receivable							       $	 22,175 	 $	 28,788 
Allowance for doubtful accounts							       $	 365 	 $	 462 
Accounts receivable greater than 90 days not provided for						      $	 447 	 $	 267 
Allowance for doubtful accounts to total receivables								       1.6%		  1.6%

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Bad debt expense							       $	 68 	 $	 123 

The REIT’s contractual cash flows for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

										          2020 and	 Contractual 
					     2015	 2016	 2017	 2018	 2019	  Thereafter	 Cash flows(1)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	  	 $	 67,570 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 – 	 $	 67,570 
Liabilities related to assets held for sale			    9,144 		   – 		   – 		   – 	  	 – 	  	 – 		   9,144 
Mortgage and subordinated term loan payable							     
	 – principal(2)				     229,731 		   56,692 		   239,746 		   61,119 		   141,807 		   61,715 		   790,810 
	 – interest(3)				     35,953 		   31,147 		   21,940		  12,126 		   5,708		   12,569 		   119,443 
Bridge loan 							     
	 – principal	  			   2,000 		   – 		   – 	  	 – 		   – 		   – 	  	  2,000 
	 – interest				     26 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   26 
Convertible debentures – principal							     
	 – principal				     – 	  	  36,358 		   75,000 		   50,000 		   86,250 		  –  		   247,608 
	 – interest				     15,218 		   13,378 		   12,764 		   6,827 		   2,695 		   – 	  	  50,882 
Long-term land leases				     1,704 		   1,704 		   1,704 		   1,708 	  	 1,683 		   71,219 		   79,722 

Total 	 			   	 $	 361,346 	 $	 139,279 	 $	 351,154	 $	 131,780 	 $	 238,143 	 $	 145,503 	 $	 1,367,205 

(1)	 Contractual cash flows include principal and interest payments and include extension options available to InnVest.					   
(2)	 Mortgage principal includes regular amortization and repayments at maturity.							     
(3)	 Interest for floating rate debt is based on interest rates prevailing at December 31, 2014.							     

Contingent Obligations
InnVest and its operating subsidiaries are contingently liable with respect to litigation and claims that arise from time to time in the normal  
course of business. 
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long-term debt has been estimated based on the current market  
rates for mortgages with similar terms, credit risks and conditions.

The fair value of InnVest’s convertible debentures is greater than  
the carrying value by approximately $8,755 at December 31, 2014 
(December 31, 2013 – was less than by $13,728). The fair value of 
convertible debentures is based on the market price for each series  
of convertible debentures as at each reporting date. 

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont.)

FAIR VALUES
The fair values of InnVest’s current financial assets and current financial 
liabilities approximate their recorded values at December 31, 2014 and 
December 31, 2013 due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of InnVest’s long-term debt is greater than the carrying 
value by approximately $16,428 at December 31, 2014 (December 31, 
2013 – $7,634) due to changes in interest rates since the dates on 
which the individual mortgages were arranged. The fair value of 

The fair value hierarchy of financial liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet is as follows:

							       December 31, 2014		  December 31, 2013		

						      Level 1	 Level 3	 Total	 Level 1	 Level 3	 Total

Financial Liabilities:						    
Exchangeable units						       2,170 	  	 – 	  	 2,170 		   1,695 	  	 – 		   1,695 
Convertible debenture holders’ conversion option	  		  – 		  9,931 	  	 9,931 		   – 		   17,227 		   17,227 
Deferred Units						       774 		   – 		   774 		   – 		   – 	  	  – 
Unvested executive compensation	  				    211 		   – 	  	 211 	 	  75 		   – 		   75 

Total financial liabilities					     $	 3,155 	 $	 9,931 	 $	 13,086 	 $	 1,770 	 $	 17,227 	 $	 18,997 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements during the periods presented and no transfer into and 
out of Level 3. There were no financial instruments measured at Level 2 
at any of the dates presented.

The fair market value of convertible debenture holders’ conversion 
options is estimated using a Black-Scholes valuation model and InnVest 
uses the following methods to determine its underlying assumptions: 
expected volatilities are based on the historical volatilities of the 

monthly closing price of InnVest’s unit prices; the expected term of the 
conversion option is based on the remaining term of each series of 
debentures; the risk-free interest rate is based on the Government of 
Canada Bond yield with similar life terms to the expected life of the 
option; and the expected dividend yield is based on the current annual 
dividend amount divided by InnVest’s unit price on the issuance date  
of the convertible debenture.

The following key assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes valuation model:

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Expected volatility								        27.0%		  27.0%
Expected distribution yield								        6.7%		  8.6%

The fair market value of convertible debenture holder’s conversion options might result in a significantly higher or lower fair value due to a change 
in the unobservable inputs used. 

The following table reconciles movements in convertible debentures holders’ conversion option, which are financial instruments classified as Level 3 
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Opening balance at January 1	  						      $	 17,227 	 $	 662 
Fair value loss included in net loss (NOTE 27)								         9,027 	  	 12,572 
Change in fair value of Series G conversion option resulting from redemption and amendment 		   	 (16,323)		   – 
Issuance of convertible debentures								         – 		   3,993 

Balance at end of the year							       $	 9,931 	 $	 17,227

Fair value losses are included in ‘Unrealized loss on liabilities presented at fair value’ (see Note 27). 

LETTERS OF CREDIT
As at December 31, 2014, InnVest has letters of credit totalling $8,225 
(December 31, 2013 – $2,179) including $6,000 relating to a deposit on 
an acquisition completed subsequent to year end (refer to Note 31). 

Remaining letters of credit relate to security deposits for various utility 
companies and liquor licences, and relate to additional security for the 
pension liabilities.
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21. UNITS OUTSTANDING

InnVest is authorized to issue an unlimited number of units, each of which represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distributions 
from InnVest. Per the DOT, units cannot be issued from treasury unless the Trustees consider it not to be dilutive to ensuing annual distributions of 
distributable income to existing unitholders.

Units issued and outstanding:

							       Units	 $

Opening balance at January 1, 2013								         93,583,904 	 $	 643,320 
Units issued under distribution reinvestment plan								         115,550 		   500 
Units issued under trustee and executive plans								         131,443 		   560 

Balance at December 31, 2013							       	  93,830,897 		   644,380 
Units issued pursuant to public offering 								         12,050,000 		   59,932 
Units issued pursuant to private placement	  							       9,000,000 		   47,250 
Units issued as payment in kind (NOTE 11) 								         720,311 		   3,784 
Units issued under distribution reinvestment plan								         617,237 		   3,224 
Units issued under trustee and executive plans 								         61,849 		   293 

Balance at December 31, 2014							        116,280,294 	 $	 758,863 

In September 2014, InnVest’s Board of Trustees approved an increase 
of this reserve to 1% of InnVest’s outstanding units from time to time  
in connection with proposed changes to the Board of Trustees 
compensation structure. The listing of up to an additional 797,412  
units for this purpose (which would increase the reserve account 
balance to 950,157 units) was conditionally approved by the Toronto 
Stock Exchange in October 2014, subject to unitholder approval at  
the next annual general meeting and other customary conditions. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
The senior executives participate in the executive compensation plan 
under which InnVest units are granted by the Board of Trustees from 
time to time. All granted units vest equally on the third and fourth 
anniversaries of the effective date of grant. InnVest has reserved a 
maximum of 1,000,000 units for issuance under the plan. The balance 
in this reserve account at December 31, 2014 is 584,780 units 
(December 31, 2013 – 621,345 units). A unit granted through the plan 
entitles the holder to receive, on the vesting date, the then current fair 
market value of the unit plus the value of the cash distributions that 
would have been paid on the unit if it had been issued on the date of 
grant assuming the reinvestment of the distribution into InnVest units. 
The payment will be satisfied through the issuance of units. 

The benefit resulting from the issuance of units under this plan and any 
fair value adjustments on the liability are recorded in ‘Corporate and 
administrative’ expense in the consolidated statements of net loss and 
comprehensive loss.

At December 31, 2014, there were 58,794 (December 31, 2013 – 27,210) 
unvested executive units granted under the plan. The unvested units  
are presented as ‘Other liabilities’. During the year ending December 31, 
2014, 44,988 units were vested (2013 – 2,217 units).

ISSUANCE OF UNITS
On November 26, 2014, InnVest completed a public offering of 
12,050,000 units at $5.25 per unit, resulting in gross proceeds of 
$63,262, net of issue costs of $3,330. Concurrent with the public 
offering, the REIT also completed a private placement of 9,000,000 
units to certain trustees and officers at $5.25 per unit, resulting  
in gross proceeds of $47,250.

UNITS ISSUED AS PAYMENT IN KIND
On April 24, 2014, InnVest issued 573,361 units, at a price of $5.23 or 
$3,000 related to the Up-Front Fee and the Commitment Fee paid to 
KingSett and subsequently issued 146,950 units at a weighted average 
price of $5.34 related to the Term Interest Payments (see Note 11).

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN (“DRIP”)
InnVest has a DRIP whereby eligible Canadian unitholders may elect to 
have their monthly distributions automatically reinvested in additional 
InnVest units. Effective September 2014, InnVest amended its DRIP  
to provide it discretion to purchase units on the open market or to  
be issued from treasury. If InnVest elects to issue units from treasury, 
unitholders who have elected to participate in the DRIP will receive  
3% bonus units in addition to any units issued to them under the DRIP.

TRUSTEE COMPENSATION PLAN
InnVest has set aside 350,000 units in reserve for the Board of Trustees 
compensation. The balance in this reserve account at December 31, 
2014 is 152,745 units (December 31, 2013 – 169,606 units). Under  
the Trustee compensation plan, 16,861 units were issued from the 
reserve for the year ended December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2013 – 
36,943 units).
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22. PER UNIT INFORMATION

23. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 

21. UNITS OUTSTANDING (cont.)

The net loss and weighted average number of units for the purposes of diluted earnings per unit are as follows:

						      December 31, 2014		  December 31, 2013

						       Weighted 		   Weighted  
					     Net Loss	  Average Units 	 Net Loss	  Average Units 

 Basic and diluted 			   $	 (14,727)		   96,598,100 	 $	 (54,956)	  	 93,743,682

The following potential units are anti-dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of units for the purposes of diluted 
earnings per unit.
							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Convertible debentures 								         39,390,578 	  	 43,792,335

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
Cash generated from (utilized in)			   	 December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Accounts receivable							       $	 10,376 	 $	 (4,805)
Prepaid expenses and other assets								         7,616 	  	 (961)
Accounts payable and other liabilities								         (9,721)		   2,850 

Changes in non-cash working capital						      	 $	 8,271	 $	 (2,916)

The following table summarizes the status of the executive compensation plan at December 31, 2014, excluding granted units which have fully 
vested and/or were cancelled:

						      Unvested		  Weighted 
						      (Vested) Units		  Average Fair 
					     Unvested (Vested)	 Accumulated from	 Unvested (Vested)	 Value Per Unit 
					     Executive Units, Net	 Distributions, Net	 Total Units, Net	 at Grant Date

2010 – granted				     1,750 		   681 		   2,431 	 $	 5.30
Vested in 2014				    (1,750)		   (681)		   (2,431)		  –
2011 – granted				     4,000 		   1,316 		   5,316 		  6.80
Vested in 2014				     (2,000)		   (557)		   (2,557)		  –	
2012 – granted				    7,000 		   1,763 		   8,763 		  4.50
2013 – granted				    11,000 		   1,453 		   12,453 		  4.65
2014 – granted				    73,172 		   1,647 		   74,819 		  5.30
Vested in 2014				    (40,000)		   – 		   (40,000)		  –	

							       53,172 	  	 5,622 		   58,794 	 $	 5.20

For the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest declared distributions 
to unitholders totalling $39,222 (2013 – $37,465) at $0.0333 
distributions per unit monthly (2013 – $0.0333 per unit monthly). 
Declared distributions include cash distributions and distributions 

arising from the DRIP (Note 21). Subsequent to the end of the year, 
InnVest declared $7,863 distributions to unitholders at $0.40 per unit 
annually or $0.0333 per month to March 11, 2015.
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WESTMONT HOSPITALITY CANADA LIMITED
InnVest has a Management Agreement for hotel management and 
accounting services and an Administrative Services Agreement (the 
“Agreements”) with Westmont Hospitality Canada Limited (“Westmont”).

Two trustees of InnVest have a direct or indirect controlling interest  
in Westmont and as such have a material interest in the Agreements. 
Westmont is considered a related party to InnVest as a result of its 
ability to exercise significant influence through the Agreements. At 
December 31, 2014, Westmont managed all but 11 of InnVest’s hotels. 
The Agreements are on terms consistent with those that prevail in  
arm’s length transactions.

Westmont manages the hotel businesses and provides customary hotel 
management services, including preparation of annual operating and 
capital budgets and marketing plans, accounting and financial reporting, 
supervision of sales and marketing, human resource management, 
purchasing, management and supervision of construction and technical 
services, information technology, franchise relations and evaluations, 
supervision of property repairs and maintenance, supervision of 
compliance with material contracts relating to the hotel properties, 
leasing, yield management and quality control. 

On April 24, 2014, InnVest finalized changes to certain agreements  
with Westmont including the internalization of the asset management 
function effective November 30, 2014 and the amendment and 
extension of the hotel management agreement to reflect a reduction  
of base management fees from 3.375% to 2.95% along with a new 

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fees charged to InnVest pursuant to the Agreements were as follows:

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Management fees							       $	 10,774 	 $	 11,558 
Asset management fees (included in ‘Management fees’)							        1,373 	  	 1,814 
Accounting services (included in ‘Operating expenses’)							        2,142 	  	 2,329 
Administrative services (included in ‘Corporate and administrative’)			    			   361 	  	 340 
Project management and general contractor services (capitalized to ‘Hotel properties’)				     3,550 		   2,795 
Termination fees (included in ‘Operating expenses’)								         1,055 		   503 

										          $	 19,255 	 $	 19,339 

incentive fee structure that will allow Westmont to earn up to 3.80% of 
gross hotel revenue each year. The new amended hotel management 
agreement was effective April 1, 2014 and will expire in April 2024.

For certain hotels owned by InnVest and not managed by Westmont, 
Westmont was entitled to an asset management fee based on a fixed 
percentage of the purchase price of the hotel or a fixed percentage of 
gross operating profit, after the reserve for replacement of furniture, 
fixtures and equipment and capital improvements, subject to an annual 
minimum fee. This asset management agreement terminated on 
November 30, 2014.

In accordance with the management agreement, in addition to the  
base management fee and incentive fee, Westmont is entitled to the 
following fees in respect of hotels that it manages: (i) purchasing fees 
based on 5% of the cost of certain goods and supplies; (ii) construction 
fees based on 5% of the cost of construction and capital expenditures; 
and (iii) per guest room fees for accounting services in respect of  
the hotel businesses. For assets sold which are managed by Westmont, 
InnVest pays a termination fee equal to the management fees paid 
based on the trailing 12 months revenues. The amended and restated 
management agreement did not result in any changes to the basis  
for such additional fees. 

On November 26, 2014, Westmont participated in the private 
placement of units (see Note 21). Westmont acquired 876,469 units  
at a cost of $4,601 ($5.25 per unit).

In addition, InnVest reimburses Westmont for costs of certain employees 
which are paid by Westmont on account of InnVest. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014, InnVest reimbursed $817 of related costs (2013 –  
$2,623). Included in ’Accounts payable and accrued liabilities’ are 
amounts owed to Westmont at December 31, 2014 totalling $1,071 
(December 31, 2013 – $3,175).

KINGSETT CAPITAL (“KINGSETT”)
A trustee of InnVest has a direct or indirect controlling interest in 
KingSett. KingSett is considered a related party to InnVest as a result  
of its ability to exercise significant influence over InnVest. In 2014, 
KingSett provided InnVest with a $50,000 Term Loan and an option  
to draw an additional $50,000 Liquidity Loan. Refer to Note 11 for a 
description of key terms of these loans and corresponding transactions 

during the year. Included in ’Accounts payable and accrued liabilities’ 
are amounts owed to KingSett at December 31, 2014 totalling $372 
(December 31, 2013 – $ nil).

An affiliate of KingSett is the land owner for one leasehold hotel owned 
by InnVest. The lease expires in 2088. For the year ended December 31, 
2014, InnVest paid $542 (2013 – $538) in lease payments related to this 
asset. Included in ’Accounts payable and accrued liabilities’ are amounts 
owed to an affiliate of KingSett at December 31, 2014 totalling $45 
(December 31, 2013 – $45).

On November 26, 2014, Kingsett participated in the private placement 
of units (see Note 21). Kingsett acquired 5,520,000 units at a cost of 
$28,980 ($5.25 per unit).
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							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Gain on sale of assets, net (NOTE 3)							       $	 (18,774)	 $	 (11,904)
Acquisition costs (NOTE 6)			    					     4,324 		   – 
Litigation settlement								         (500)		   – 
Lease agreement income								         – 		   (1,008)
Gain on redemption of convertible debentures, net (NOTE 12)							        (1,045)		   – 
Gain on amendment of convertible debenture (NOTE 12)							        (10,583)		   – 
Interest income								         (360)		   (143)
Lease surrender cost (NOTE 7)								         – 		   6,500 

										          $	 (26,938)	 $	 (6,555)

During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest recorded a net gain of $18,774 on the sale of 19 hotels included in ‘Assets held for sale’ (2013 –  
$11,904 on the sale of seven hotels (Note 3)). 

Fair value losses recorded are as follows:

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Exchangeable units			    				    $	 475 	 $	 196 
Convertible debentures holders’ conversion option 				     				    9,027 		   12,572 

										          $	 9,502 	 $	 12,768 

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Writedown of hotel properties held for sale (NOTE 3)						      $	 – 	 $	 6,350 
Reversal of previous impairment (NOTE 3)								         (3,496)	  	 (4,810)
Writedown of hotel properties (NOTE 7)								        7,250 	  	 24,800 
Writedown of other real estate properties (NOTE 8)								         – 		   4,500 

										          $	 3,754 	 $	 30,840 

25. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

27. UNREALIZED LOSS ON LIABILITIES PRESENTED AT FAIR VALUE

26. WRITEDOWN OF HOTEL AND OTHER REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES, NET

28. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

During the year ended December 31, 2014, InnVest recorded a reversal 
of previous impairment of $3,496 following the sale of seven hotels 
included in ’Assets held for sale’ (2013 – $4,810 related to six hotels). 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, no impairment loss was 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, total employee benefits of 
$185,308 (2013 – $215,124) are included in ‘Operating expenses’ and 
total employee benefits of $4,289 (2013 – $2,039) are included in 

recorded on the Assets held for sale (2013 – $6,350) and $7,250 
relating to five hotels included in ‘Hotel properties’ (2013 – $24,800 
relating to twelve hotels).

‘Corporate and administrative’ expenses. Employee benefits include all 
forms of consideration provided to employees and Board of Trustees for 
services rendered.
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Key management personnel is comprised of the Board of Trustees and the senior executives who participate in the executive compensation plan. 

							       Year Ended	 Year Ended 
							       December 31, 2014	 December 31, 2013

Short-term employment benefits							       $	 2,551 	 $	 1,424 
Unit-based compensation benefits								         1,198 		  316 

										          $	 3,749 		   1,740 

The management of InnVest’s operations is organized within four Canadian geographical regions: Western, Ontario, Quebec and Atlantic. 
Unallocated functions include the revenues and costs associated with InnVest’s other real estate properties, and costs of central corporate services 
provided. All key financing, investing and capital allocation decisions are centrally managed. 

REVENUES

Year Ended December 31, 2014 	  Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

Hotel properties	 $	 160,201 	 $	 195,813 	 $	 98,832 	 $	 79,965 	 $	 534,811 
Other real estate properties										           724 

Revenues									         $	 535,535 

Year Ended December 31, 2013 	  Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

Hotel properties	 $	 165,249 	 $	 212,729 	 $	 119,172 	 $	 87,938 	 $	 585,088 
Other real estate properties										           1,810 

Revenues									         $	 586,898

NET LOSS

Year Ended December 31, 2014 	  Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

Hotel properties	 $	 44,698 	 $	 47,991 	 $	 19,830	 $	 16,688 	 $	 129,207 
Other real estate properties										           (386)

Gross operating profit									         	  128,821
Other expenses, net									         	  (143,548)

Net loss										         $	 (14,727)

Year Ended December 31, 2013 	  Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

Hotel properties	 $	 46,968 	 $	 45,858 	 $	 24,408 	 $	 16,598 	 $	 133,832 
Other real estate properties									         	  306 

Gross operating profit										           134,138 
Other expenses, net									         	  (191,179)
Income tax recovery									         	  2,085 

Net loss										         $	 (54,956) 

29. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION
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HOTEL PROPERTIES

				     Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

December 31, 2014	 $	 508,446 	 $	 386,460 	 $	 178,888 	 $	 136,349 	 $	 1,210,143 
December 31, 2013	 $	 377,719 	 $	 438,537 	 $	 169,331 	 $	 149,916 	 $	 1,135,503 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

				     Western 	  Ontario 	  Quebec 	  Atlantic 	  Total 

Year ended December 31, 2014	 $	 27,723 	 $	 21,485 	 $	 18,470 	 $	 9,254 	 $	 76,932 
Year ended December 31, 2013	 $	 27,786 	 $	 14,792 	 $	 5,482 	 $	 12,153 	 $	 60,213 

ACQUISITION 
On February 2, 2015, InnVest and KingSett Real Estate Growth LP  
No. 5, an affiliate of KingSett, acquired an aggregate 80% interest in the 
Fairmont Royal York Hotel in Toronto, Ontario (the “Royal York Hotel”) 
in an arrangement where Ivanhoé Cambridge will retain a 20% interest 
in the hotel (the “Partnership”).

The Partnership acquired the Royal York Hotel for an aggregate price  
of $186,500, with InnVest’s 20% share in the Partnership being acquired 
for approximately $37,300. The Partnership financed the acquisition 
with an approximate $100,000, 3-year, 3.8% floating rate mortgage. 
InnVest funded its proportionate share of the acquisition equity with 
available cash. 

KingSett Real Estate Growth LP No. 5, with its 60% interest in the 
Partnership, is the managing partner of the Partnership. InnVest is  
the hotel asset manager and will oversee the property’s hospitality 
operations, working with Fairmont Hotels and Resorts, the operator  
of the Royal York Hotel. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Trustees of InnVest on March 11, 2015.

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont.)

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

32. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REDEMPTION OF SERIES D CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
On January 28, 2015, the REIT announced the early redemption of its 
6.75% Convertible Debentures (the “Series D Debentures”), on March 3, 
2015. The Series D Debentures were originally scheduled to mature  
on March 31, 2016. Subsequent to December 31, 2014, Series D 
Debentures totalling $32,715 were converted into 5,739,465 units of  
the REIT. 

On March 3, 2015, the REIT redeemed and cancelled all remaining 
Series D Debentures totalling $3,643. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”) APPOINTMENT
On December 17, 2014, the REIT announced the appointment of a new 
President and CEO. As part of his inducement, the President and CEO 
was awarded an equity grant effective on his start date, January 26, 
2015, of 400,000 units vesting at a rate of 80,000 units (‘tranche”) over 
a four-year period with the first tranche vesting upon his start date and 
each subsequent tranche vesting on each subsequent anniversary 
thereafter. In January 2015, 80,000 units were awarded to the President 
and CEO. 
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